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welcome 
message

Dear Shareholder,

The Board of Directors is pleased to present the Annual Report of The Bee Equity Partners Ltd (“The Bee”)  
for the year ended 30 June 2020. This report was approved by the Board on 24 September 2020.

On behalf of The Bee's Board of Directors, we cordially invite you to attend the Annual Meeting of the Company which will be held:

Date: Thursday 26 November 2020

Time: 9.30 hours

Place: 1st Floor, IBL House

 Caudan Waterfront

 Port Louis

The Notice for the meeting, containing the business to be transacted, is set out at page 104

We look forward to seeing you.

Sincerely,

 

Jean-Claude Béga Denis-Claude Pilot
Chairman Director
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Who We Are

The Bee Equity Partners Ltd, incorporated in 1974 as Forward Investment Development 
Enterprises Ltd (FIDES), today combines over 46 years of investment track record, with a 
portfolio spanning multiple industries and asset classes, from listed and unlisted equities 
to fixed-income investments. We are progressively refocusing our portfolio on the private 
equity investment sphere with a mission to propel high-potential businesses to the next 
level, for the benefit our all our stakeholders. We joined the Development and Enterprise 
Market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius as a listed entity in 2006.

Our key objectives 

• To bridge the capital gap for SMEs and new ventures in our region;

• To unlock our portfolio companies’ potential by providing financial, operational and 
strategic resources; 

• To foster the growing regional entrepreneurial ecosystem; and

• To generate consistent risk-adjusted returns for our shareholders.

THE BEE IN BRIEF
COMPANY PROFILE

Our difference

As a member of IBL, the leading conglomerate in Mauritius, we are in a unique position 
to nurture companies we invest in, bringing a unique blend of strategic and financial 
expertise, an extensive business network and a deep understanding of the local and 
regional business environment. Beyond making sizable capital investments, our approach 
relies on cultivating strong relationships. We focus on investments that build shared value 
and mutual success over the long term.

and VENTURE 
CAPITAL

PRIVATE 
EQUITY

Specialising in

THE LEADING 
 CONGLOMERATE

IN MAURITIUS

A MEMBER OF IBL

OF PROPRIETARY 
CAPITAL

A LONG-TERM INVESTOR 
WITH RS 532M

40-
track record of delivering 
time-tested investment 

strategies

More than

YEAR

Our investment proposition

By acquiring The Bee shares, investors gain access to a growing portfolio of private 
capital investments, originated and managed by a committed team of seasoned 
investment professionals who understand the inherent challenges of investing in unquoted 
companies. We use our in-house expertise to understand a business from the bottom up 
and carefully assess its potential to deliver high returns. At every stage of the investment 
cycle, we use our ongoing research, breadth of expertise, networks, infrastructure 
and capabilities to execute, grow and monitor these investments on behalf of our 
shareholders.

THE BEE EQUITY PARTNERS LTD
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Our Investment Strategy
We manage our portfolio based on a dynamic asset 
allocation strategy, which provides a solid framework for our 
medium-term objectives. Each asset class is managed with 
specific objectives and management strategies:

Listed equity portfolio (Rs 78 million at 30 June 2020)

Because redeploying our available capital into new private equity projects is an undertaking that extends over multiple 
years, we make sure it remains long-term productive through a listed equity exposure. Since we focus our resources 
on our core private equity business, we outsource the management of this portfolio to a renowned asset management 
firm through a non-benchmarked, absolute return mandate. The Bee’s Investment Committee and Board define strict 
investment policy guidelines, and closely monitor the asset manager’s performance to ensure alignment with the 
Company’s objectives.

Private equity and venture capital portfolio (Rs 164 million at 30 June 2020)

Designed for the long-term, our unlisted equity portfolio aims to generate high returns, consistent with risk, mainly through 
capital appreciation. As our core business, our private equity portfolio is actively managed by our team. We expect this 
portfolio to gradually expand and become our main asset class. 

Our main investment criteria are:

• Approach – We partner with passionate entrepreneurs who have the vision and drive to grow their firms into market-
leading businesses. As a knowledgeable resource, we work closely with the management team to offer strategic 
guidance and support, ensuring that the people, processes and capital are in place to help them navigate the challenges 
and opportunities inherent in growing a business.

• Targets – we focus on high-potential SMEs and new ventures. 

• Equity stakes – We typically take between 26% and 50% of the share capital of our investee companies.

• Industries – Though we are flexible about the sectors of business in which we invest, we favour innovative and high-
growth businesses and steer clear of mature sectors and real estate.

• Tickets – Our investment size generally ranges from Rs 5 million to Rs 50 million.

• Investment horizon – We typically retain our investments between 5 and 8 years.

Fixed income portfolio (Rs 211 million at 30 June 2020, including cash and cash equivalents of Rs 107 million)

Fixed-income instruments play the role of a bridge portfolio at The Bee: they are progressively redeployed into our private 
equity projects. Our main objective being the preservation of purchasing power and income generation, we manage these 
portfolios using a rather passive, buy-and-hold strategy, mainly using highly-liquid, low-risk sovereign securities capable of 
being monetised quickly. This portfolio performs the valuable role of protecting us from badly-timed long-term investment 
disposals. We aim to progressively phase out this portfolio as we expand our core business of private equity.
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11.2%
TOTAL RETURN ON NAV
2019: +2.1%

35%

22%

17%

Unlisted

Fixed income

Listed

36%

37%

27%

Unlisted

Fixed income

Listed

Porfolio by asset class

 30 JUNE 2020

30 JUNE 2019

Rs59.50
Nav Per Share
2019: Rs67.00

(-11.2%)

Rs24.1
Share Price
2019: Rs31.7

(-24.0%)

Rs-66.2m
Result For The Year
2019: Rs14.2m

Rs212.6m
Market Capitalisation
2019: Rs279.6m

FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS

11.2%
TOTAL RETURN ON NAV
2019: +2.1%
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DIRECTORS’
PROFILES Sydney Ah Yoong (Mr)

Resident of Mauritius

Non-Executive Director 
Appointed on:
4 August 2020 on the Board of Directors

4 August 2020 as Member of the Investment Committee

Qualification:
Mr. Sydney Ah Yoong is a Fellow Member of the Association of 
Chartered Accountants (ACCA) since 1987.

Professional Journey:
He joined Deloitte in 1974 and was assigned clients of various 
sectors, namely, banking, hotels and catering, insurance, imports 
and exports, manufacturing, shipping and textiles. He was also 
entrusted with overseas assignments which included amongst 
others audit as well as management engagements, incorporation 
of local and international branch of insurance companies, takeovers 
and liquidation. He retired as a partner of Deloitte in 2012.

Board Memberships and Affiliations:
- ABC Banking Corporation Ltd
- P.O.L.I.C.Y. Limited
- The Bee Equity Partners Ltd

03

01

04
02

Denis-Claude Pilot (Mr)
Resident and Citizen of Mauritius

Independent Non-Executive Director
Appointed on:
13 December 2017 on the Board of Directors

21 May 2018 as Member of the Audit & Risk Committee

20 June 2018 as Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee

Qualification:
Mr. Denis-Claude Pilot has a Bachelor of Commerce majoring in 
Accounting and Finance in 2005 from Curtin University Australia. He 
was admitted as member of the Institute of Chartered Accountant 
in Australia & New Zealand in 2009 and as member of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountant in England & Wales in 2010.

Professional Journey:
He worked for PwC from 2008 to 2010 and joined Eclosia Group 
in 2010. In 2013, he was appointed as Group Finance Manager of 
Indigo Hotels & Resorts until 2016 where he was nominated as 
Group Chief Financial Officer of Eclosia Group.

Board Memberships and Affiliations:
- The Bee Equity Partners Ltd

Jean-Claude Béga (Mr)
Resident and Citizen of Mauritius

Non-Executive Chairman 
Appointed on:
16 January 2017 on the Board of Directors

13 February 2017 as Chairman of the Board of Directors

10 February 2017 as Member of the Investment Committee

Qualification:
Mr. Jean-Claude Béga is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants.

Professional Journey:
He started his career in 1980 by spending 7 years as external 
auditor and then moved to a sugar group to perform various 
functions within accounting and finance before joining GML in 1997 
as Finance Manager. He is currently the Group Head of Financial 
Services and Business Development of IBL Ltd and has also been 
appointed as Executive Director of that company in August 2018.

Board Memberships and Affiliations:
- AfrAsia Capital Management Ltd
- Anglo African Investments Ltd
- DTOS Ltd
- Eagle Insurance Limited
- IBL Ltd
- Knights & Johns Management Ltd
- Lux Island Resorts Ltd
- Phoenix Beverages Limited
- The Bee Equity Partners Ltd

Olivier Fayolle (Mr)
Resident and Citizen of Mauritius

Executive Director 
Appointed on:
9 May 2016 on the Board of Directors

Qualification:
Mr. Olivier Fayolle holds a MSc in Finance from the University of 
Lille, France.

Professional Journey:
Before joining The Bee Equity Partners Ltd in April 2016, he 
worked in France in the research department of Octo Finances, an 
investment and capital market advisory firm, covering a portfolio of 
sectors from building materials to utilities. He is a member of the 
Board of various investee companies of The Bee Equity Partners 
Ltd.

Board Memberships and Affiliations:
- The Bee Equity Partners Ltd
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Madhukar Gujadhur (Mr)
Resident and Citizen of Mauritius

Independent Non-Executive Director 
Appointed on:
13 December 2017 on the Board of Directors

21 May 2018 as Member of the Audit & Risk Committee

Qualification:
Mr. Madhukar Gujadhur was admitted as Member of ACCA in 1982. 

Professional Journey:
From September 1988 to March 2006 he was the Financial 
Controller of Sun Resorts Ltd.  
From April 2006 to March 2014 he was the Director of Finance - 
O&O Royal Mirage Hotel (Dubai) owned by Ruler of Dubai.

From April 2014 to June 2020, he was the Financial Controller of 
IKO (Mauritius) Resort Village Ltd (previously known as Le Chaland 
Resort Village Ltd)
He retired since July 2020.

Board Memberships and Affiliations:
- The Bee Equity Partners Ltd
- Sik Yuen Limited

Jan Boullé (Mr)
Resident and Citizen of Mauritius

Non-Executive Director 
Appointed on:
27 July 2001 on the Board of Directors

5 June 2020 as Member of the Investment Committee

Qualification:
Mr. Jan Boullé is qualified as an « Ingénieur Statisticien 
Economiste » (France) and pursued postgraduate studies in 
Economics at Université Laval (Canada).

Professional Journey:
He has been employed by the Constance Group from 1984 to 2016 
and occupied various executive positions and directorships. His 
latest position at Constance was the Group Head of Projects and 
Development.  

He has been appointed as the Non-Executive Chairman of IBL Ltd 
on 1 July 2016, the ultimate holding company of The Bee Equity 
Partners Ltd. 

Board Memberships and Affiliations:
- Alteo Agri Ltd
- Alteo Limited
- Bloomage Ltd
- BlueLife Limited
- Camp Investment Company Limited
- Espace Maison Ltd
- GML Ineo Ltée
- IBL Ltd
- Lux Island Resorts Ltd
- Mon Loisir Ltée 
- Phoenix Beverages Limited
- Phoenix Investment Company Limited
- Pick and Buy Ltd
- The Bee Equity Partners Ltd
- The United Basalt Products Ltd

Delphine Lagesse (Mrs)
Resident and Citizen of Mauritius

Non-Executive Director
Appointed on:
11 September 2019 on the Board of Directors

5 June 2020 as Member of the Investment Committee

Qualification:
Mrs. Delphine Lagesse holds an MBA International from Dauphine 
University & IAE Paris Sorbonne Business School and has studied 
Economics at the University of Paris I, Pantheon - Sorbonne.

Professional Journey:
She started her career in 1998 as a Senior Consultant at DCDM 
in the Marketing and Economic Studies department. She joined 
Ireland Blyth in 2005 as Sales and Marketing Manager of Catovair, 
the group airline company and has held various functions in several 
operations and corporate departments of Ireland Blyth between 
2005 and 2011 when she joined the Business Development team 
at IBL Head office. In July 2017, she has been appointed as Group 
Strategic Innovation and Excellence Executive of IBL Ltd in the 
CEO’s office. Since then she has been leading projects for the CEO 
such as the digital transformation of the group as well as group 
projects with a strong innovation aspect.

Board Memberships and Affiliations:
- The Bee Equity Partners Ltd

Sattar Jackaria (Mr)
Resident and Citizen of Mauritius 

Non-Executive Director
Appointed on:
28 August 2018 on the Board of Directors

28 August 2018 as Member of the Audit & Risk Committee

Qualification:
Mr. Sattar Jackaria is a Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of 
Actuaries (UK) and holds a BSc (Hons) in Mathematics, Operational 
Research, Statistics & Economics from the University of Warwick, 
UK.

Professional Journey:
He started his career in 1999 by spending 7 years in London working 
for a global actuarial consulting firm. He then returned to Mauritius 
in 2006 to join Swan Life Ltd as Senior Manager of its Actuarial 
Department. During his time at Swan, he performed various 
functions including pensions & investment advisory, reserving, 
pricing & product development. On 1 October 2016, he joined IBL 
Ltd as Head of Financial Services. 

Board Memberships and Affiliations:
- DTOS Ltd
- Knights & Johns Management Ltd
- The Bee Equity Partners Ltd
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
TEAM PROFILES

Olivier  
Fayolle (Mr)

Chief Executive Officer

Joined on:
15 April 2016

Refer to profile on page 10

Arthur Archaud 
(Mr)

Investment Manager

Joined on:
17 August 2020

Qualification:
Arthur holds a master’s in 

management degree with distinction 
from the London School of Economics.

Professional Journey:
Arthur started his investment career 
at UBS in London before joining the 

private equity practice at Kearney 
where he worked on a variety of 

projects in the payments, logistics, 
health and consumer goods sectors. 
Arthur also has operating experience 

as an early business development 
employee at the successful Africa-

focused venture Asoko Insight.

Julien Venner 
(Mr)

Finance Manager

Joined on:
29 April 2019

Qualification:
Julien holds a master degree with 
honours in finance and accounting 

from the University of Metz (France). 

Professional Journey:
Julien has more than 18 years 

working experience in audit, financial 
controlling and reporting and 

entrepreneurship. Before joining The 
Bee, Julien worked as senior auditor at 
KPMG Luxembourg, he also held the 
following roles: financial controller at 
BNP Paribas Assurance Luxembourg 
and Head of Financial Reporting at 
Lombard International Assurance 
in Luxembourg. Julien was also a 

successful entrepreneur in the creative 
industry in Mauritius.
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JEAN-CLAUDE BÉGA |
CHAIRMAN

Chairman’s
statement
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Dear Stakeholder,

It is my pleasure to present the Annual Report of The Bee 
Equity Partners Ltd (“The Bee” or “the Company”) for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2020, a difficult and challenging 
period which has nevertheless opened up new opportunities 
for the Company.

A difficult year in review

The 2019-20 financial year has been a year like no other, and 
the fourth quarter was dominated by the COVID-19 outbreak 
on a global scale. This health crisis has resulted in significant 
uncertainty in the global economy and capital markets around 
the world as countries continue to implement measures to 
contain and manage the impacts of the virus. Mauritius has 
not been spared by the pandemic, which has severely hit two 
key pillars of the economy, tourism and the manufacturing 
sector. In this threatening and gloomy environment, our 
priority has been to protect our people’s health and assist 
our portfolio companies as they steer through the prevailing 
conditions.

Being resilient in an unprecedented market 
environment

As a result of the pandemic, the global economy has 
contracted sharply, as evidenced by the 21.9% decline in 
the SEMDEX over the financial year. In this unprecedented 
difficult environment, our equity portfolio fell by 18.4%. Our 
fixed-income portfolio and substantial cash holdings helped 
mitigate the downfall in equity prices, resulting in an overall 
11.2% decrease in our NAV at 30 June 2020. Encouragingly, 
our main investment, Flacq Associated Stonemasters Ltd 
(“FAST”), demonstrated a strong performance post-lockdown, 
which impacted positively on our performance during the 
fourth quarter of the year.

Keeping heading on our strategy 

In my address to you last year, I mentioned the urgent need 
to diversify our economy away from its traditional pillars and 
foster entrepreneurship in new business sectors. Recent 
developments have shown this is relevant now more than ever. 
As a corporate body, we are committed to playing our part 
in that process by helping ambitious entrepreneurs establish 
and scale up future-proof, value-creative businesses while 
generating consistent returns for our shareholders. In that 
respect, at the beginning of the financial year, we invested 
in Identical Pictures, the market leader in the emerging film 
production sector in Mauritius. Although travel restrictions 
due to the pandemic outbreak had a highly unfavourable 
impact on our new investee’s performance, we believe 
Identical Pictures retain solid growth prospects in a recession-
proof industry, offering new growth avenues for our region.

Despite the heavy toll of the COVID-19 pandemic on the 
value of our portfolio, we remain well equipped to execute on 
our strategy in the years to come, with nearly Rs 210 million 
cash and highly liquid fixed-income assets readily available to 
be redeployed into new projects. 

An update on our governance

On 19 June 2020, Mr. Stéphane Henry resigned as Director 
of the Company and was replaced by Mr. Sydney Ah Yoong 
on 4 August 2020 as representative of P.O.L.I.C.Y. Ltd on the 
Board of Directors. I would like to thank Stéphane for his 
dedication and commitment during his tenure and welcome 
Sydney to the Board.

Also, in February 2020, the Board decided to review 
the structure, terms of reference and composition of its 
Investment Committee with a view to reduce complexity 
in the governance of our investment processes. The new 
committee is now exclusively composed of Directors of the 
Company, namely Mrs. Delphine Lagesse and Messrs. Jan 
Boullé and Sydney Ah Yoong in addition to myself. I would 
also like to thank Mrs. Catherine Gris and Messrs. Mushtaq 
Oosman and Nicolas Weiss for their contribution to the 
performance of the Company. 

Final word

I would like to seize this opportunity to thank my fellow 
Directors for their dedication and support over the past year. 
While there is no doubt that COVID-19 has impacted our 
financial performance in the review period, I am confident that 
we are on the right track to execute on our business vision 
while generating positive outcome for all our stakeholders.

Jean-Claude Béga
Chairman
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Olivier Fayolle |  
Chief Executive Officer

CEO’s report
30 June 2020
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How would you summarise the year just 
ended?

It has been a year of two faces. We were well on track 
to deliver a strong performance until the final months of 
the report period when the COVID-19 crisis broke out, 
significantly disrupting the country’s social, health and 
economic landscape in an unprecedented way. The Mauritian 
equity stock market dropped significantly, with the SEMTRI 
and DEMTRI declining by 19.4% and 7.1% respectively. In this 
very challenging environment, our NAV contracted by 11.2% 
(2019: +2.1%). 

How has your portfolio performed during the 
year?

Our portfolio companies have been affected at different 
levels and, as an engaged partner, we have assisted them in 
adapting their organisation to look for more efficiency and 
performance.  

At 30 June 2020, our portfolio was valued at Rs 453.4 million, 
including cash and cash equivalents of Rs 106.8 million. Our 
defensive asset allocation, with 47% invested in fixed income 
instruments and cash and cash equivalents, helped buffer the 
exposure to the sharp decrease in equity stock prices during 
the year.

The value of the Company’s listed equity portfolio has 
declined by 25%. Following the rebalancing exercise 
underway since early 2019, we sold more than half of our 
shares in MCB to reduce concentration in our portfolio and 
redeployed the proceeds into a variety of listed shares, some 
of which have been strongly impacted by the pandemic, 
particularly those in the tourism sector.

Our unquoted portfolio decreased by 15% in value over the 
period. Given the diversity of our unquoted holdings, the 
impact of the pandemic has been mixed across our portfolio. 
Companies exposed to travel such as our hotel associates PL 
Resorts and Haute Rive Azuri Hotel experienced significant 
business disruption, which resulted in significant fair value 
losses. On the contrary, our building material subsidiary, FAST, 
fared much better and posted a commendable increase in 
profit during the year despite the 2-month lockdown. Also, 
our telecommunication associates Atlas Communication and 
Les Relais demonstrated appreciable resilience.

It is interesting to note that during the fourth quarter of the 
year, some investee companies performed very well after 

lockdown and finished the year ahead of their initial budget. 
This had a positive impact on our overall performance 
compared to where we were at the end of the third quarter.

How did this translate into this year’s financial 
results?

In this very difficult environment, we ended the year with a net 
loss of Rs 66.7 million compared to a profit of Rs 14.2 million 
last year. The significant variance resulted mainly from fair 
value losses on financial assets, lower investment income and 
higher expected credit losses.

Fair value losses on financial assets amounted to Rs 55 million 
(2019: fair value gains of Rs 6 million), driven by the impact 
of the COVID-19 pandemic on equity valuations. Our listed 
and unlisted portfolios almost equally contributed to those 
losses, with our holdings in hospitality and financial services 
representing more than half of the total. Our hospitality 
exposure had an additional impact on our profitability through 
expected credit losses of Rs 16 million (2019: Rs 6 million) on 
our loans to our hotel associates. 

Investment income has also been affected by the current 
turmoil, with listed and unlisted companies declaring lower 
dividends during the period under review and interest income 
also decreasing, mainly due to lower interest rates. The overall 
amount of investment income was Rs 20 million, down by 
34.5% compared to 2019.

Administrative expenses rose slightly by 5% over the period 
to Rs 16.3 million (2019: Rs 15.5 million), the increase being 
mainly due to exceptional expenses of Rs 1.2 million in 
relation with transaction costs. 

With these financial results, how can you 
analyse shareholders’ return as at 30 June 
2020? 

Our return on NAV amounted to -11.2% this year compared to 
a net positive return of 2.1% last year.

This year’s negative return has been mainly triggered by net 
fair value losses, contributing -9.3%. Expected credit losses 
had an unfavourable impact of 2.8%, reflecting the profound 
crisis in the tourism sector. Our portfolio’s recurring income, 
also impacted by the current environment, only contributed 
3.6% to our annual return.

THE BEE EQUITY PARTNERS LTD
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Portfolio including cash by asset class

Portfolio including cash by sector
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CEO’S
Report (CONT’D)

THE BEE EQUITY PARTNERS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 202020

Performance attribution for  
the year ended 30 June 2020 Quarterly NAV return evolution

How has The Bee progressed in its private 
equity strategy?

In September 2019, we invested in Identical Pictures, the 
leading film production company in Mauritius and one of 
the few local companies capable of producing international 
movies distributed through renown streaming platforms and 
TV channels. Following our investment, we have worked 
alongside the management to enhance the corporate 
governance and financial reporting framework. This will 
ensure the right structure is in place for them to focus on their 
growth plan. Although the COVID-19 outbreak and resulting 
travel restrictions worldwide affected the company’s business 
for several months, Identical Pictures is now back in business 
with a solid project pipeline. 

Meanwhile, we have continued our efforts to screen new 
appealing investment opportunities while remaining 
disciplined and selective. 

What are the outlook and perspectives for The 
Bee for the coming year?

We expect to suffer another difficult year in 2021, albeit to a 
lower extent, with the stock markets remaining under pressure. 
We will continue to focus our resources on assisting our 
portfolio companies navigate through those turbulent times.

Also, thanks to our strong fundamentals, we have significant 
cash holdings available to be deployed into compelling 
private equity investment opportunities in our region. In the 
current rough context, our mission to support entrepreneurs 
along their growth path is more than ever relevant. The 

current crisis will challenge the status quo and allow new 
players emerge. We are standing ready to help them in their 
development. We are also standing ready to support SMEs 
affected by the economic turmoil but with strong turnaround 
potential once the crisis eases. 

A last word?

I would like to thank my team members for their hard work, 
dedication and achievements during this special year. I would 
also like to thank the Investment Committee and the Board, 
especially the Chairman, Jean-Claude Béga for their constant 
support and valuable counsel during the year. Last but not 
least, a special thank you to our partners from the local 
entrepreneurship ecosystem who are working alongside us to 
build a vibrant private investment framework in Mauritius. 

Olivier Fayolle
Chief Executive Officer
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Corporate Governance
Report
INTRODUCTION

The Bee Equity Partners Ltd (“The Bee” or “the Company’’) is an investment firm incorporated on 9 October 1974. 

As defined by the Financial Reporting Act 2004, The Bee is a Public Interest Entity which is listed on the Development & 
Enterprise Market (“DEM”) of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius. As such, The Bee applies the principles of the National Code of 
Corporate Governance for Mauritius (2016) (“the Code”).

The Board and the management of The Bee reiterate their commitment to maintaining high standards of corporate governance 
by applying and implementing the principles of the Code. The representatives of The Bee on the boards of the portfolio 
companies also ensure that sound governance practices are applied consistently. 

This report addresses The Bee’s corporate governance framework and explains how the Company has applied the principles of 
the Code throughout the year. The Board will review and monitor this application for continued improvement and adaptation to 
principles of governance.

PRINCIPLE 1: GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is not only responsible for the setting up of the Company’s strategic objectives, values and standards but it is also 
liable and accountable for the management and performance of the Company’s affairs. The Board also assumes responsibilities 
for meeting all legal and regulatory requirements.

Accordingly, the Board oversees the operations of the Company through regular board meetings, during which the 
management of The Bee presents a review of the operations and projects of the Company and provides updated financial 
reports, budgets and forecasts for the Company.

The Board considers that The Bee has a Constitution which is detailed enough to lead the effective functioning of the Board 
in line with the principles of the Code. Accordingly, the duties of the Board, the proceedings of the Board as well as the 
remuneration and other interests of Directors are thoroughly dealt by clauses 24, 25 and 26 of the Company’s Constitution. 
There is no predetermined frequency for reviewing the said Constitution. Should there be a necessity to do so to clarify or 
improve the governance framework, a special resolution of shareholders could be passed accordingly upon recommendation of 
the Board. 

A copy of the Constitution of the Company has been duly filed with the Registrar of Companies thus making it available to the 
public for consultation. 

The Board is dedicated to high moral values and ethical conduct in dealing with all its stakeholders. The Board has accordingly 
adopted a ‘value statement’ and ensures that such values are followed by the employees and the portfolio companies. Upon 
recommendation of the Audit & Risk Committee, the Board also adopted on 23 September 2019 a code of ethics, applicable to 
all employees and board members of The Bee. A copy of the code of ethics is available on the following web address:  
www.thebee.mu and upon request in writing to the Company Secretary at the Registered Office of the Company, 4th Floor, IBL 
House, Caudan Waterfront, Port Louis.
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PRINCIPLE 2: STRUCTURE OF BOARD AND COMMITTEES

Organisation chart 

The Board has approved the job descriptions of the key senior officers of the Company and presents hereunder the organisation 
chart of the Company:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AUDIT & RISK 
COMMITTEE

Investment Manager Finance Manager

INVESTMENT 
COMMITTEE

Chief Executive Officer

Assisted by Assisted by

Delegates day-to-day management to

Please refer to profiles of Senior Management Team on page 12.

Since the publication of the last Annual Report of The Bee, the following changes occurred in the composition of the Board:

• Mr. Stéphane Henry resigned as Director of the Company on 19 June 2020;

• Mr. Sydney Ah Yoong was appointed Director of the Company on 4 August 2020.

Directors’, Committee Members’ and Senior Governance Positions’ Profiles

Please refer to pages 10 to 11 of this Report.

For practical reasons and given the fact that the directorship list of Directors is constantly subject to changes, the Board decided 
that only directorships of Directors in Public Interest Entities have been disclosed in the respective profile of each Director. The 
full directorship list of each Directors is filed with the Registrar of Companies each year with the Annual Return of the Company. 
Moreover, a copy of full directorship list of Directors is available upon written request made to the Company Secretary.

The Board 

The Board is committed to the highest standard of business integrity, transparency and professionalism and ensures that the 
activities of the Company are managed ethically and responsibly in line with the relevant laws and regulations in order to build a 
sustainable business and to protect and enhance shareholders’ value.

Composition

The Bee is managed by a unitary Board of 8 members, 1 of whom is an Executive Director, 5 of whom are Non-Executive 
Directors and 2 of whom are Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Board is of the opinion that given the small scale and 
limited complexity of the organisation, the presence of one Executive Director on the Board is sufficient.

The business of The Bee is to hold and manage a portfolio of investments. Hence the Directors are appointed based on their 
knowledge and skills in finance, business management, investment and private equity. The Board considers that the current 
Directors are of an appropriate calibre and have the required expertise, set of competencies, knowledge and diversity to 
manage the Company efficiently to achieve the established strategy. 

In view of ensuring a proper balance of power as well as enhancing its performance, the Board ensures that there is an adequate 
level of independence amongst the Directors. As such, 38% of the Directors are not related to the major shareholders of the 
Company and 25% have no relationship with the Company itself. 
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The Directors are convinced of the benefits of diversity, including gender, within the Board and its Committees. In that respect, 
the Board will continue to review its composition in light of the recommendations of the Code.

Key roles and responsibilities

The Board operates under the chairmanship of Mr. Jean-Claude Béga who assumes the responsibility for leading the Board and 
ensuring its effectiveness. There is a clear division of responsibility between the Chairman and the  
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) whose responsibility resides in managing the business and ensuring that the strategic objectives 
of the Company are achieved.

Non-Executive Chairman: 

Mr. Jean-Claude Béga

Mr. Jean-Claude Béga has the primary function to preside over 
the meetings of Directors and ensure a proper functioning of 
the Board in the best interest of good governance. 

Mr. Jean-Claude Béga provides overall leadership to the 
Board and ensures its effectiveness by encouraging the active 
participation of each Director in board discussions and board 
decisions.

Executive Director: 

Mr. Olivier Fayolle

As Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Mr. Olivier 
Fayolle is responsible for the effective conduct of the 
Company’s business activities. He is responsible amongst 
others for:

• Developing and recommending to the Board 
annual business plans and budgets that support the 
Company’s long-term vision and strategy;

• Ensuring that the Company’s strategy and policies are 
implemented; and

• Ensuring that the Company’s financial and operating 
objectives are achieved.

Non-Executive Directors: 

Messrs. Sydney Ah Yoong, Jan Boullé, Sattar Jackaria and 
Mrs. Delphine Lagesse

The Non-Executive Directors support, motivate, advise and 
beneficially challenge the Executive Director to ensure that the 
expected goals and strategy are met.

Independent Directors: 

Messrs. Madhukar Gujadhur and Denis-Claude Pilot

The Independent Directors enhance the quality of the 
Board’s business through independently-minded contribu-
tions and discussions. 

Company Secretary:

IBL Management Ltd

The Company Secretary is available to provide assistance and information on governance and corporate administration is-
sues. It has the primary responsibility for guiding the Board as to its duties and responsibilities. The Company Secretary also 
ensures that all board procedures are followed, and that applicable laws and regulations are complied with.  
The Company Secretary is also responsible for taking accurate and precise board minutes, which are submitted for approval 
at the following meeting.

The Company Secretary also acts as Secretary of Board sub-committees.

Board meetings

The Board has 4 scheduled meetings each year. In addition, special meetings may be called from time to time as required. The 
Directors are aware of their responsibility for attending these meetings.

Board meetings are convened by giving appropriate notice after obtaining approval of the Chairman. As a general rule, detailed 
agenda, management reports and other explanatory statements are circulated in advance amongst the Directors to facilitate 
meaningful, informed and focused decisions at the meetings. Moreover, the Board Members have unrestricted access to the 
records of the Company and have the right to seek independent professional advice at the expense of the Company, to enable 
it to discharge of its responsibilities effectively.

A quorum of 5 Directors is currently required for a board meeting and in case of equality of votes, the Chairman has a casting 
vote.
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Matters considered by the Board in financial year 2019-2020

During the year under review, the Board met on 4 occasions 
and the following items have been considered and approved 
amongst others:

• Private equity investment project;

• Audited accounts of the Company at 30 June 2019;

• Condensed audited financial statements for the year ended 
30 June 2019;

• Approval of code of ethics for the Company;

• The Company’s audited financial statements, corporate 
governance report and annual report for the year ended on 
30 June 2019;

• The proposal to reappoint Ernst & Young as auditors of the 
Company;

• The remuneration of the Directors and the members of the 
Audit & Risk Committee;

• The ratification of a political donation;

• The termination of the Independent Investment Committee 
Members’ mandates and new structure for the Investment 
Committee;

• The condensed unaudited financial statements for the 
quarters ended 31 December 2019 and 31 March 2020;

• Performance and outlook for the Company in context of 
COVID-19 crisis;

• The budget for the year ending 30 June 2021;

• The appointment of new Members on the Investment 
Committee;

• Amendments to the terms of reference of this Committee.

The Directors also adopted amongst others by way of written 
resolution during the year under review:

• The appointment of Mrs. Delphine Lagesse as Director of 
the Company;

• The Company’s condensed unaudited financial statements 
for the quarter ended 30 September 2019.

Attendance at Board Meetings for the period 1 July 2019 
to 30 June 2020

The attendance report of the Directors at the board meetings 
for the year under review, as well as their gross remuneration 
for the year are shown hereunder:

Directors
Attendance at the Board Meetings 

of the Company
Remuneration at 30 June 2020

Jean-Claude Béga* 4 out of 4 Rs100,0001

Jan Boullé 4 out of 4 Rs75,0001

Olivier Fayolle 4 out of 4 Rs4,373,5772

Madhukar Gujadhur 2 out of 4 Rs75,000

Stéphane Henry 4 out of 4 Rs75,000

Delphine Lagesse3 2 out of 3 Rs60,205

Sattar Jackaria 4 out of 4 Rs75,0001

Denis-Claude Pilot 4 out of 4 Rs75,000

*Chairman

• As per recommendation of the Board ratified by the Shareholders at annual meeting 2019, the Chairman of the Board is a 
paid a flat fee of Rs100,000 per annum in prorata of his respective appointment and resignation date on the Board.

• Non-Executive Directors and Independent Non-Executive Directors are paid a flat fee of Rs 75,000 per annum in prorata of 
their respective appointment and resignation date on the Board.

1: The emoluments of Messrs. Jean-Claude Béga, Jan Boullé, Sattar Jackaria and Delphine Lagesse, have been paid to 
 IBL Ltd.

2: This figure relates to the remuneration and benefits of the Executive Director as an employee of the Company. No Director’s fees were paid to the Executive 
Director.

3: Mrs. Delphine Lagesse was appointed Director of the Company on 11 September 2019.
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Board Committees

The Board of Directors is supported by 2 sub-committees 
namely the Audit & Risk Committee and the Investment 
Committee. 

These Committees are chaired and composed of experienced 
members who report to the Board on activities of the 
respective Committees and make recommendations on 
matters delegated to them under their respective Terms of 
Reference.

The Terms of Reference of these Committees are reviewed 
by the Board should there be major changes which require to 
adjust the composition, processes, duties and responsibilities 
of such Committees.

Audit & Risk Committee

The Audit & Risk Committee ensures integrity of accounting 
and financial reporting, risk management and review of 
internal control systems and procedures in order to assist 
the Board to perform its duties. The Committee monitors 
the role and scope of work of assurance providers and 
ensures compliance with legal and regulatory provisions. 
The Committee has the authority to conduct or authorise 
investigations into a matter within its scope of responsibilities 
and to engage any firm of professionals it deems fit to provide 
independent expert advice. The Committee has full access to 
all management personnel and can call upon any member of 
management and staff or any member of the Board to attend 
its meetings.

Composition

The Committee is chaired by Mr. Denis-Claude Pilot, an 
Independent Non-Executive Director. The other Members 
of the Committee are Mr. Madhukar Gujadhur, Independent 
Non-Executive Director and Mr. Sattar Jackaria, Non-
Executive Director.

Matters considered amongst others by the Committee in 
the financial year 2019-2020

The Audit & Risk Committee met 4 times during the year and 
has considered the following:

• Review of the audited accounts and condensed audited 
financial statements of the Company at 30 June 2019;

• Review of the Corporate Governance Report 2019;

• Review of the condensed unaudited financial statements 
of the Company at 30 September 2019, 31 December 2019 
and 31 March 2020;

• Update of risk register of the Company;

• Impact of COVID-19 crisis on the Company;

• Review of valuation methodologies;

• Review of code of ethics for the Company and 
recommendation for the Board’s approval;

• Review and approval of internal audit charter;

• Follow-up of internal audit on preparation of a 
management accounts.

Committee Attendance

The attendance and remuneration report of the Audit & 
Risk Committee for the year ended 30 June 2020, is shown 
hereunder:

Members

Attendance at 
the Audit & 

Risk Committee 
of the Company

Remuneration 
at 30 June 

2020

Denis-Claude Pilot* 4 out of 4 Rs40,000

Madhukar 
Gujadhur

 4 out of 4 Rs25,000

Sattar Jackaria  4 out of 4 Rs25,0001

*Chairman

Upon recommendation of the Board, at the Annual Meeting 
2019, the Shareholders approved the payment of a flat fee of 
Rs 25,000 to the Members of the Audit & Risk Committee and 
a flat fee of Rs 40,000 for the Chairman of the Committee.
1: The emoluments of Mr. Sattar Jackaria have been paid to IBL Ltd.

Investment Committee

As part of the strategy of The Bee and in view of mitigating 
the investment risk, the Board is assisted by an Investment 
Committee in its duty to evaluate and monitor the investment 
activities of the Company, which include monitoring 
investment strategies and policies, managing investment 
risks and evaluating investment and disposal transactions. 
In February 2020, the Board decided to review the structure, 
terms of reference and composition of the Committee. Hence 
the mandates of Messrs Mushtaq Oosman and Nicolas Weiss 
as well as Mrs. Catherine Gris were not renewed upon their 
expiry in April 2020. In June 2020, the terms of reference 
of the Investment Committee was accordingly updated 
to provide for the appointment of non-executive board 
members.

The mandate of the Committee itself remained substantially 
the same. The Committee makes recommendations to the 
Board on investment matters. It is to be noted that the Board 
has the duty to monitor the exercise of the tasks handled 
by the Investment Committee and remains ultimately 
accountable and responsible for the decisions, performance 
and affairs of the Company. The Members of the Investment 
Committee may obtain such outside or other independent 
professional advice as it considers necessary to carry out their 
duties.
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Composition 

The Investment Committee shall be composed of a minimum 
of 3 and a maximum of 4 non-executive Directors.

Consequently, in addition to Mr. Jean-Claude Béga who 
had already been appointed as Member since inception 
and whose appointment was reconducted by the Board on 
5 June 2020, Mrs. Delphine Lagesse and Mr. Jan Boullé were 
appointed as Members of the Investment Committee.

Moreover, on 4 August 2020, Mr. Sydney Ah Yoong was also 
appointed as Member of the Investment Committee.

In the light of the above changes in composition of the 
Committee, it was agreed that the Chairperson of this 
Committee shall be appointed at its next meeting, as the 
terms of reference cater for. 

The Chairperson of this Committee will have the duty to 
report on the activities and the recommendations of the 
Committee to be submitted to the Board for consideration 
and approval/rejection.

Mr. Olivier Fayolle, the Executive Director of The Bee also 
attends all meetings of the Investment Committee.

Brief profiles of the Members of the Investment Committee 
are set out on pages 10 to 11.

Matters considered by the Committee in financial year 
2019-2020

During the year under review, the Investment Committee 
met once and the following matters were considered and 
discussed amongst others:

• Various private equity projects;

• Monitoring of the performance of the listed equity portfolio 
of the Company;

• Evaluation of the pipeline of private equity projects.

Committee Attendance

The attendance report of the Investment Committee for the 
year ended 30 June 2020, is shown hereunder:

Members
Attendance at the Investment 
Committee of the Company

Mushtaq Oosman* 1 out of 1

Jean-Claude Béga 1 out of 1

Catherine Gris* 1 out of 1

Nicolas Weiss* 1 out of 1

*Non-Board Members

After the structure and composition of the Committee was 
reviewed on 5 June 2020, no Investment Committee meetings 
were held.

Remuneration of the Investment Committee

Non-Board Members of the Investment Committee receive 
annual remuneration, which is commensurate with their 
scope of work and responsibilities. The other Member of the 
Investment Committee namely Mr. Jean-Claude Béga does 
not receive any remuneration in respect of his mandate on 
this Committee.

After the structure and composition of the Committee was 
reviewed on 5 June 2020, the remuneration of the new 
Members has not yet been determined by the Board.

PRINCIPLE 3: DIRECTOR APPOINTMENT 
PROCEDURES

The Board acknowledges responsibility for the appointment 
of Directors and ensures that a formal and transparent 
procedure is in place in respect of the selection and 
appointment of Directors.

In accordance with the Company’s Constitution, the Board 
may fill vacancies or newly-created directorships on the Board 
that may occur between annual meetings of shareholders. 
The total number of Directors shall not at any time exceed the 
number fixed in accordance with the Constitution.

The Appointment process is as follows:

Appointment of new Director by the 
Board of Directors.

Newly appointed Director is subject to 
election in first year of appointment by 
the shareholders at the Annual Meeting

In accordance with the Constitution of 
the Company, every year, two Directors 

must stand for re-election at the 
Company’s Annual Meeting

In light of the above, it is to be noted that at forthcoming 
Annual meeting of the Company, upon recommendation of 
the Board, the appointment of Mr. Sydney Ah Yoong will be 
proposed as well as the re-appointment by rotation of Messrs 
Sattar Jackaria and Denis-Claude Pilot.
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Board induction

The Board has the responsibility to ensure proper induction of 
newly appointed Directors to the Board. Accordingly, as part 
of the induction process, upon appointment, new Directors 
receive a complete induction pack from the Company 
Secretary, which includes amongst others the following 
documents:

• The Company’s Constitution detailing amongst others the 
powers & duties of the Board and Directors;

• Extract of Companies Act 2001 listing the duties and 
responsibilities of Directors;

• Latest Annual Report of the Company;

• Calendar of meetings for the year;

• Statutory information about the Company; and

• A presentation giving details of investment portfolio, 
business activities as well as key figures of the Company.

The CEO and Chairman are also available to meet the new 
Directors on one to one basis for presenting the various 
activities and answering to the potential queries that the new 
Directors might have.

Succession planning

The Board recognises that an effective succession planning 
has a positive impact on the performance management 
as well as long-term strategy of the Company in terms of 
ensuring that key positions remained filled with qualified and 
competent candidates. Accordingly, the Board is committed 
to encouraging and promoting talent within the Company 
if such expertise is available internally to ensure business 
continuity. The CEO, Mr. Olivier Fayolle has an employment 
contract with an indefinite timeframe and the Board believes 
that under his leadership, the Company will achieve its 
strategic objectives. 

Furthermore, the CEO has implemented the necessary 
measures internally to ensure smooth running of the 
Company even in his absence.

Given the small structure of the Company, the replacement of 
any staff members in case of departure will be handled by the 
Management. In case of departure of the CEO, the Chairman 
will endorse the responsibility to provide for his replacement.

Training and development

The Board encourages all its members to keep updated about 
latest trends within the workplace and keep on enhancing 
their knowledge and competencies through development 
programmes. As part of their individual continuous 
professional development program, most of the Directors of 
The Bee who also serve on other Boards attended various 
training sessions and seminars during the year under review.

PRINCIPLE 4: DIRECTORS DUTIES, 
REMUNERATION AND PERFORMANCE

Directors’ duties

The Directors are aware of their legal duties. Upon 
appointment on the Board, the Directors receive accordingly 
a complete induction pack, which includes amongst others:

• an extract of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 pertaining 
to the duties and responsibilities of Directors;

• a copy of the Company’s Constitution detailing the powers 
and duties of the Board at Clause 24.

Interest register, conflicts of interest and 
related party transactions

The Directors of The Bee use their best endeavours to follow 
the Rules of the Development & Enterprise Market of the 
Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd.

During the year under review, the Directors and Officers of 
the Company did not deal in the shares of The Bee whether 
directly or indirectly. 

A table showing the direct and indirect interests of the 
Directors in the securities of the Company is set out in the 
statutory disclosures on page 50 of this report.

The Directors are fully aware of the requirements set out in 
Rule 20 of the Development & Enterprise Market Rules which 
provides for restrictions on share dealings during the close 
periods as well as Sections 156 and 157 of the Mauritius 
Companies Act 2001, which requires appropriate disclosure 
and restrictions on share dealing by Directors. Furthermore, 
one month prior to the board meetings scheduled for the 
approval of abridged accounts, a correspondence is sent by the 
Company Secretary to the Directors of the Company reminding 
them of the commencement date of the close period and 
drawing their attention to the fact that they should not deal in 
the shares of the Company during this period of time.

All the disclosures made by the Directors under the 
requirements of Rule 20 of the Development & Enterprise 
Market Rules and under Sections 156 and 157 of the Mauritius 
Companies Act 2001 are entered in an interest register which 
is kept by the Company Secretary. 

There is no conflict of interest between the Directors and the 
Company and shall such conflicts happen, the Directors have 
an obligation to disclose their interests in the Company’s 
register of interests so that this conflict can be managed 
accordingly. Moreover, Directors are accustomed to declaring 
their interest during board meetings should there be a 
particular subject or transaction in which they might be 
conflicted by being directly or indirectly interested or by virtue 
of other directorships they hold in other entities in business 
with The Bee. Moreover, the first item of the agenda of each 
board meeting deals with Directors’ declaration of interests. 
Such declarations are recorded by the Company Secretary in 
register of declaration of interests.
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Furthermore, The Bee being registered as a Reporting Issuer 
with the Financial Services Commission, its Directors and their 
associates are also required to give proper notification of 
interests when dealing in the securities of the Company.  
A register of insiders is kept by the Company and is available 
for consultation, free of charge, during usual office hours at 
the Registered Office of the Company situated at 4th Floor, IBL 
House, Caudan Waterfront, Port Louis. 

Information pertaining to related party transactions are fully 
explained and disclosed on page 99, Note 29 of the Financial 
Statements.

Information, information technology and 
information security governance

The Board oversees information governance within the 
Company and ensures that the performance of information 
and information technology systems leads to business 
benefits and creates value. The Board delegates the 
maintenance of effective information technology systems and 
processes to management, which in turn uses the services of 
IT specialists to advise on the appropriate solutions, systems 
and policies.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, in the context of the 
lockdown due to the COVID-19 outbreak, the Company was 
able to continue to operate remotely with a high level of 
security thanks to its cloud-based information technology 
systems. 

Remuneration policy

In accordance with the Company’s Constitution and except 
for remuneration of Executive Directors, fees are paid to 
Directors for holding office. No pre-determined criteria 
have been set up for remunerating Executive Directors 
approaching retirement. However, the Board will determine 
such remuneration, as and when required.

Fees paid to Non-Executive Directors and Independent 
Non-Executive Directors are submitted to the approval 
of Shareholders at the Company’s Annual Meeting. 
Consequently, at the last Annual Meeting of The Bee, the 
Shareholders approved the remuneration of the Members of 
the Board. 

Any proposed change in remuneration of Directors is 
submitted to the Shareholders of the Company for approval.

It is the responsibility of the Board upon recommendation of 
the Chairman for determining the remuneration of  
Executive Directors whilst taking into consideration the 
prevailing market conditions, benchmarking within the 
industry, the Company’s results, the skills, knowledge, 
competencies and qualifications of the Directors.

Non-Executive Directors are not entitled to share options or 
bonus associated with the performance of the Company.

The Company is evaluating the setting up a long-term 
remuneration plan known as ‘carried interest’ for its 
executives. Further details will be provided once approved by 
the Board.

Details of remuneration paid to Directors during the year 
under review are set out in the attendance report schedule on 
page 27.

Board evaluation

Following a decision of the Board in February 2018, it was 
agreed that an evaluation exercise of the Board and its 
Directors would be carried out every 3 years and would be 
led by the Company Secretary. Accordingly, such exercise 
has been carried out in year 2017/2018 and the results 
and recommendations were presented to the Directors in 
May 2019. This appraisal has since enabled the Board to 
take appropriate actions to improve its effectiveness and 
functioning in terms of internal control and risk management 
as well as good governance practices.

The Board Evaluation process is conducted by means of a 
questionnaire filled by each Director. The main questions 
covered the following categories:

• Function of the Board;

• The Company;

• Size, Composition and Independence of the Board;

• Board Meetings and Chairman’s Appraisal;

• Directors’ Individual Assessment/Evaluation;

• Financial and Operational Reporting;

• Compliance and Ethical Framework;

• Risk Assessment; and

• Subsidiary Questions.

During this process, the Directors were required to complete 
the questionnaire for self-assessment of the performance of 
the Board based on the above. 
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PRINCIPLE 5: RISK GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is convinced that the long-term success of any business lies on an effective management of risks and uncertainties. 
The Board is ultimately accountable for managing the Company’s risks. As such, the Board has systematically integrated risk-
thinking into its business decisions.

Our approach

The Board is accountable for the overall stewardship of the risk management framework, internal control assurance, and for 
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives. In doing so, 
the Board sets a preference for risk within an effective control environment, to generate a return for investors and protect their 
interests.

The risk appetite is reviewed by the Audit & Risk Committee on behalf of the Board and covers the principal risks that the 
Company expects to encounter in delivering its strategic objectives. The Committee is provided with management information 
on a quarterly basis and monitors performance against set thresholds and limits to ensure that the Company’s strategic 
objectives can be achieved, within the boundaries of the Company’s risk appetite.

The Board also seeks to promote a strong risk management culture by encouraging acceptable behaviors, decisions and 
attitudes toward taking and managing risk throughout the Company.

Business and risk environment for the year ended on 30 June 2020

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has been at the forefront of our risk assessment and mitigation planning processes since 
March 2020. Our first priority has been to protect and support our employees during this period. We have also taken steps to 
minimise any operational disruption to the Company by activating our contingency plans and putting in place a work from home 
policy. We have worked with our portfolio companies to do likewise.

The Directors have carried out an assessment of the principal risks facing the Company, including those that would threaten its 
business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity. Such assessment is discussed in Note 3.1 of this annual report.

Our risk appetite

The Company’s risk appetite is set at Board level and the Board defines the amount and types of risks the Company is willing to 
take on in order to achieve its strategic objectives, as described in our business model below: 

Financial Capital

Human Capital

Intangible Capital  
(brand equity/reputation)

The Bee’s business 
model and key 

Investment processes

Key strategic priorities

1. Generate consistent risk-
adjusted returns through 
capital appreciation and 
income generation.

2. Deploy capital into new 
strategic private equity 
investments.

3. Foster bold innovative and 
ethical entrepreneurship.
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In setting its risk appetite, the Company takes into consideration the following factors:

• Strategic objectives (see above) and core values of the Company;

• Risk capacity of the Company; and

• Risk/reward balance.

The Board monitors the risk exposure of the Company by reviewing the portfolio’s actual composition against set limits with 
regard to: 

• Asset classes;

• Geographies;

• Sectors; and

• Investment weightings.

Governance structure and framework to manage risks

We operate a risk framework consistent with the principles of the ‘three lines of defence’ model. This ensures clarity over 
responsibility for risk management and segregation of duties between those who take on risk, those who oversee risk and those 
who provide assurance.

• The first line of defence is the business functions and their respective line managers, who own and manage risk and 
controls across the processes they operate. The management is accountable to the Board for the design, implementation 
and monitoring of the risk management processes and ensuring that internal controls are effective and adhered to. It also 
monitors the effectiveness of the controls in mitigating the occurrence and significance of risks. 

• The second line of defence is made up of the control and oversight functions, Legal, Risk and Compliance for instance, who 
provide assurance that risk management policies and procedures are operating effectively. This assurance is obtained from 
the appointment of independent experts and their opinions provide additional assurance on asset valuation, measurement of 
employee benefit liabilities, financial statements and Company’s risk management and internal control environment.

• Internal Audit is the third line of defence and provides independent assurance over the design and operation of controls 
established by the first and second lines to manage risk.
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The risk governance structure of the Company is illustrated in the chart below:

Board

• Approves the Group’s risk appetite and strategy

• Responsible for ensuring an effective risk management and oversight 
process across the Group and for the longer-term sustainability of the 
business

• Assisted by two Board Committees with specific responsibility for key 
risk management areas

• Delegates management of the Group to the CEO

Investment Committee

• Principal committee for overseeing the Company’s 
investment activities and monitoring associated risks. 
Meets as often as required

• Strict oversight of each step of the investment 
lifecycle

• Approves all investment, divestment and material 
portfolio decisions

• Monitors investments against original investment 
case

• Ensures investments are in line with the Company 
investment policy and risk appetite

Audit & Risk Committee

• Responsible for reviewing financial reporting risk and 
internal control and the relationship with the external 
auditor and internal auditor

• Reviews and challenges reports from Finance 
manager

• Responsibility for the valuation policy and valuation of 
the Company’s investment portfolio

• Provides oversight and challenge of underlying  
assumptions  on the valuation of the unquoted 
investment portfolio

• Overview of risk management of the Company

• Implements the Company’s risk appetite policy and 
monitors performance

• Maintains the Company risk review which details 
its risk exposure and appropriate mitigations and 
controls

Management

• Delegated responsibility for management of the Company

• Delegated responsibility for investment activities

• Delegated responsibility for risk management

1st line of defense:  
Business functions

2nd line of defense:  
Oversight functions

3rd line of defense:  
Internal audit
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Internal control

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the system of controls of the Company is sufficient and appropriate in order to 
mitigate the risks which may impact its objectives. 

The Company’s internal control system consists of resources, behaviours, procedures and initiatives tailored to the specifics of 
the Company. The Investment Committee ensures that key controls in the investment appraisal and execution cycle are in place 
and that the investment policies are constantly adhered to. The Audit & Risk Committee monitors the effectiveness of controls 
on compliance, business ethics, financial management and reporting processes.

An internal auditor ensures that appropriate controls are in place in the organisation. During the current financial year, the 
internal auditor initiated an assignment on the investment activities of the Company.

In conducting its annual review of the effectiveness of risk management, the Board considers the key findings from the ongoing 
monitoring and reporting processes, management assertions and independent assurance reports. The Board also takes into 
account of material changes and trends in the risk profile and considers whether the control system, including reporting, 
adequately supports the Board in achieving its risk management objectives.

Our risk management processes

Although risk governance has always been deeply entrenched in the Board’s functioning and culture, the Board continues 
to reinforce its risk management system through workshops and exchange sessions involving management, the Audit & Risk 
Committee and the Directors.

The Board confirms that the process illustrated below is in place to identify and manage the Company’s risks:

Risk analysis and 
assessment

Risk mitigation Risk monitoring
Establish the context and 

identify risks

The Board identifies, appraise and monitors the risks faced by the organisation through a formalised risk register, reviewed by 
the Audit & Risk Committee and the Board on a regular basis. 

Risks identified by the Company are categorised into four main areas of risk: strategic, financial, operational and compliance. 

Risk exposure is assessed taking into account its likelihood and its impact. Likelihood grades from remote to very likely, while 
impact grades from immaterial to severe. The combination of the two factors provides the Company with a risk rating, which is 
then adjusted to reflect mitigants and controls in place.

The Directors have carried out an assessment of the principal risks facing the Company. We define our principal risks as those 
that have the potential to impact the delivery of our strategic objectives materially. We also maintain a risk register which 
includes new and emerging risks which may have the potential to become principal risks but are not yet considered to be so. 
This is called our “watch list”. These risks are regularly reviewed to determine if they have the potential to impact the delivery of 
our strategy. During the year, we reclassified the risks of cyber security and data protection from the watch list to principal risks. 
We also added a pandemic risk as new principal risk.

The table below depicts the number of risks for each risk rating category at 30 June 2020:

Residual risk rating Number of risks

High 2

Medium High 4

Medium Low 4

Low 6
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The principal top 10 risks of the Company are described thereafter:

Risk 
number

Risk Category Risk Description and Cause Proximity Mitigants
Residual risk 

rating 
30 June 2020

Residual risk 
rating 

30 June 2019

Strategic priority 
impacted

A Strategic Pandemic risk

Pandemic threat (or resurgence) leading to sanitary 
and economic crisis and causing loss of lives, 
closure of businesses, redundancies and resulting 
consequences

Immediate

• Monitoring our cash flow and cash needs of investee 
companies

• Ensuring BCP are in place in our investee companies
• Sanitary protocols and safety measures in place
• Work from home policy to avoid operational disruption

High

Not previously 
identified

1, 2

B Strategic Country risk
Major economic, financial and social instability in 
Mauritius impacting the value of our portfolio

Immediate
• Monitoring of macro and micro economic indicators
• PF includes liquid assets capable of being redeployed

High Medium Low

1

C Financial Market risk
• Equity price risk (listed + unlisted)
• Interest rate risk

Immediate
• Asset allocation strategy approved by the IC and the 

Board
• Low duration of debt instrument portfolio Medium High Medium High

1

D Strategic Investment risk

Investments causing losses or generating returns 
inconsistent with risk, as a result of:
• Unwise and/or untimely investment decisions
• Weak underlying performance of investee 

companies
• Insufficient monitoring of investments
• No or inadequate legal documentation 
• Inability to exit illiquid investments in a timely 

manner

Short Term

• Portfolio diversification policies in place
• Proper screening and due diligence processes
• IC / Board oversight and approvals of all new investment 

decisions
• Management mandate to best-in-class asset manager 

for listed equity portfolio
• Board representation and veto rights in PE investee 

companies
• Legal documentation of PE investments prepared and 

vetted by corporate lawyers

Medium High Medium High

1

E Strategic
Investment 
strategy risk

Difficulty to source suitable PE targets matching the 
investment criteria and risk/reward requirements of 
Company

Short Term

• Deal sourcing ecosystem in place and constantly 
reinforced

• Sector-agnostic investment policy to maximize 
investment opportunities

• Constant review and challenge of the current investment 
strategy by IC and Board

Medium High Medium Low

1, 2, 3

F Operational
Human capital 

risk

• Inability to attract and/or retain key talents within 
budgets

• Inability to recover human capital costs through 
investment returns given the small size of the 
portfolio

Medium Term

• Benchmarking to ensure attractive remuneration 
schemes

• Flexible, dynamic and empowering working environment
• Career development opportunities Medium High Medium High

1, 2, 3

G Financial
Financial 

reporting risks

Improper valuation of investments causing false 
state of total assets and inaccurate reporting to 
shareholders 

Short Term

• Preparer / reviewer framework at management level
• Multiple valuation techniques used to ensure 

reasonableness of valuations
• Review by ARC and external auditors Medium Low Medium Low

1

THE BEE EQUITY PARTNERS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 202036

The principal top 10 risks of the Company are described thereafter:

Risk 
number

Risk Category Risk Description and Cause Proximity Mitigants
Residual risk 

rating 
30 June 2020

Residual risk 
rating 

30 June 2019

Strategic priority 
impacted

A Strategic Pandemic risk

Pandemic threat (or resurgence) leading to sanitary 
and economic crisis and causing loss of lives, 
closure of businesses, redundancies and resulting 
consequences

Immediate

• Monitoring our cash flow and cash needs of investee 
companies

• Ensuring BCP are in place in our investee companies
• Sanitary protocols and safety measures in place
• Work from home policy to avoid operational disruption

High

Not previously 
identified

1, 2

B Strategic Country risk
Major economic, financial and social instability in 
Mauritius impacting the value of our portfolio

Immediate
• Monitoring of macro and micro economic indicators
• PF includes liquid assets capable of being redeployed

High Medium Low

1

C Financial Market risk
• Equity price risk (listed + unlisted)
• Interest rate risk

Immediate
• Asset allocation strategy approved by the IC and the 

Board
• Low duration of debt instrument portfolio Medium High Medium High

1

D Strategic Investment risk

Investments causing losses or generating returns 
inconsistent with risk, as a result of:
• Unwise and/or untimely investment decisions
• Weak underlying performance of investee 

companies
• Insufficient monitoring of investments
• No or inadequate legal documentation 
• Inability to exit illiquid investments in a timely 

manner

Short Term

• Portfolio diversification policies in place
• Proper screening and due diligence processes
• IC / Board oversight and approvals of all new investment 

decisions
• Management mandate to best-in-class asset manager 

for listed equity portfolio
• Board representation and veto rights in PE investee 

companies
• Legal documentation of PE investments prepared and 

vetted by corporate lawyers

Medium High Medium High

1

E Strategic
Investment 
strategy risk

Difficulty to source suitable PE targets matching the 
investment criteria and risk/reward requirements of 
Company

Short Term

• Deal sourcing ecosystem in place and constantly 
reinforced

• Sector-agnostic investment policy to maximize 
investment opportunities

• Constant review and challenge of the current investment 
strategy by IC and Board

Medium High Medium Low

1, 2, 3

F Operational
Human capital 

risk

• Inability to attract and/or retain key talents within 
budgets

• Inability to recover human capital costs through 
investment returns given the small size of the 
portfolio

Medium Term

• Benchmarking to ensure attractive remuneration 
schemes

• Flexible, dynamic and empowering working environment
• Career development opportunities Medium High Medium High

1, 2, 3

G Financial
Financial 

reporting risks

Improper valuation of investments causing false 
state of total assets and inaccurate reporting to 
shareholders 

Short Term

• Preparer / reviewer framework at management level
• Multiple valuation techniques used to ensure 

reasonableness of valuations
• Review by ARC and external auditors Medium Low Medium Low

1
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Risk 
number

Risk Category Risk Description and Cause Proximity Mitigants
Residual risk 

rating 
30 June 2020

Residual risk 
rating 

30 June 2019

Strategic priority 
impacted

H Strategic
Brand 

reputation

Impairment of brand equity caused by:

• Litigations with portfolio companies 

• Working with new partners

Short term

• Detailed legal documentations to prevent 
misunderstandings/litigations

• KYC and World Checks on prospective stakeholders

• Communication strategy focusing on business ethics, 
mission, values and transparency

Medium Low Low

1, 2, 3

I Operational
Cyber security 

threats

Cyber-attacks and security breaches of IT systems 
leading to the disruption of operations, fraud and 
reputational damage

Short term

• Antivirus and firewall in place and maintained

• Team awareness

• Cloud infrastructure for mails, storage of data and 
accounting system

Medium Low Low

1

J Operational Legal risks
Breaches of contractual obligations (NDAs, 
shareholders agreements)

Medium Term

• Confidentiality and rigour culture instilled by 
management amongst teams

• Internal audit monitoring Medium Low Medium Low

1, 3

Abbreviations:

PE: Private Equity

PF: Portfolio

IC: Investment Committee

SEM: Stock Exchange of Mauritius

FSC: Financial Services Commission

ARC: Audit & Risk Committee

NDA: Non-Disclosure Agreements

KYC: Know Your Customer

BCP: Business Continuity Plan
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Risk 
number

Risk Category Risk Description and Cause Proximity Mitigants
Residual risk 

rating 
30 June 2020

Residual risk 
rating 

30 June 2019

Strategic priority 
impacted

H Strategic
Brand 

reputation

Impairment of brand equity caused by:

• Litigations with portfolio companies 

• Working with new partners

Short term

• Detailed legal documentations to prevent 
misunderstandings/litigations

• KYC and World Checks on prospective stakeholders

• Communication strategy focusing on business ethics, 
mission, values and transparency

Medium Low Low

1, 2, 3

I Operational
Cyber security 

threats

Cyber-attacks and security breaches of IT systems 
leading to the disruption of operations, fraud and 
reputational damage

Short term

• Antivirus and firewall in place and maintained

• Team awareness

• Cloud infrastructure for mails, storage of data and 
accounting system

Medium Low Low

1

J Operational Legal risks
Breaches of contractual obligations (NDAs, 
shareholders agreements)

Medium Term

• Confidentiality and rigour culture instilled by 
management amongst teams

• Internal audit monitoring Medium Low Medium Low

1, 3

Key strategic objectives:
1. Generates consistent risk-adjusted returns through capital appreciation and income generation

2. Deploy capital into new strategic private equity investments

3. Foster bold, innovative and ethical entrepreneurship 
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Risk profile

The diagram below shows the Company’s principal risks.

The horizontal axis shows the impact of a principal risk if it were to materialise and the vertical axis illustrates the likelihood of 
this occurring. The scales are based on the residual risk exposure remaining after mitigating controls.
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PRINCIPLE 6: REPORTING WITH INTEGRITY

The Board assumes responsibility for leading and controlling 
the Company and for meeting all legal and regulatory 
requirements.

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Other main responsibilities of the Board of Directors include 
the assessment of performance of the management relative 
to corporate objectives, overseeing the implementation 
and upholding of good corporate governance practices and 
ensuring timely and comprehensive communication to all 
stakeholders on events significant to the Company.

An internal auditor has been appointed to ensure the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control framework. 
Nothing has come to the Board’s attention to indicate any 
material breakdown in the functioning of the internal controls 
and systems during the period under review, which could have 
a material impact on the business.

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report 
including the Corporate Governance Report and financial 
statements of the Company in accordance with applicable 
laws and regulations. Company law requires the Directors 
to prepare the financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the 
Companies Act 2001 for each financial year.

Accordingly, in the preparation of the financial statements, the 
Directors hereby confirm that:
(i) Adequate accounting records and an effective system 

of internal control and risk management have been 
maintained;

(ii) Appropriate accounting policies supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates have 
been used consistently;

(iii) International Financial Reporting Standards have been 
adhered to; and

(iv) The principles of the Code of Corporate Governance 
have been adhered to in all material aspects and reasons 
provided for any non-compliance.

The external auditors are responsible for reporting on whether 
the financial statements are fairly presented and whether the 
principles of the Code of Corporate Governance have been 
duly applied.

PRINCIPLE 7: AUDIT

The Board is responsible for the appointment and, if 
necessary, the removal of internal and external auditors. 
However, the Board delegates to the Audit & Risk Committee 
the responsibility to interact with the auditors, ensure their 
independence, qualification and professional ethics, assess 
their performance, determine their scope of work and issue 
recommendations to the Board on their appointment and 
remuneration. 

Audit & Risk Committee

The Board confirms that the current members of the Audit 
& Risk Committee have the appropriate financial literacy 
and skills to perform their duties proficiently: 2 out of the 
3 members are qualified accountants and one of them is a 
qualified actuary. 

During the reporting year, one of the key matters that 
the Audit & Risk Committee considered in relation to the 
Company’s financial statements was the methodologies 
and assumptions used by the management to value 
unquoted equity securities. The valuation methodologies 
and assumptions were found to be appropriate. The Audit & 
Risk Committee also reviewed the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on the Company’s accounts and made an 
assessment of going concern, taking into account both the 
Company’s current performance and the Company’s future 
outlook. 

Internal audit

The internal auditor has the responsibility to assess the 
internal controls of the Company and reports on a regular 
basis to the Audit & Risk Committee. The latter ensures that 
a proper access to the Company’s records, management and 
employees is given to the internal auditor in order to perform 
its duties in the required manner. 

The internal audit function is outsourced to an external 
service provider reporting directly to the Audit & Risk 
Committee, thereby safeguarding its independence towards 
the management of the Company. Its remuneration is set by 
the Board under the recommendation of the Audit & Risk 
Committee. The internal auditor is structured as a team of 
specialists headed by a manager who is accountable for the 
proper performance of internal audit engagements. 

During the year under review, the internal auditor has started 
to review the control design of the investment activities of 
the Company. It is envisaged that the incoming assignments 
would cover the following areas: human resource processes, 
payment processes and segregation of duties.

External audit

Upon recommendation of the Board, at the Annual Meeting 
held in November 2019, the Shareholders of the Company 
have reappointed Ernst & Young as external auditors of the 
Company for the financial year ending 30 June 2020.

Non-Audit Services

The non-audit services are provided by Ernst & Young and 
relate to tax services. The remuneration paid for non-audit 
services has been disclosed in the ‘Auditors Remuneration’ 
section on page 51 of this Annual Report. The Board is of the 
opinion that the auditor’s objectivity and independence are 
not impaired while providing these non-audit services given 
the limited additional fees received for those services and that 
it is the Company’s responsibility to review and sign-off the 
tax return.
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PRINCIPLE 8: RELATIONSHIP WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Bee’s key stakeholders

SMEs, 
entrepreneurs 

and 
entrepreneurship 

ecosystem

Suppliers

Government 
and Regulatory 

authorities

Shareholders

Employees

Investee 
Companies

The Bee

Shareholders’ agreement

The Company has not entered into any such agreement with any of its Shareholders for the year under review.

Communication with shareholders

By regularly disseminating information to the market concerning the Company’s performance and financial position throughout 
the year, the Board of The Bee ensures that a high degree of transparency is preserved. The calendar hereunder illustrates the 
important shareholders’ events:

Annual 
Meeting of 

Shareholders

Publication 
of half-year 

results

Publication 
of results for 
the 9 months 
to 31 March 

2020

Financial Year-
End

Publication 
of full year 

results to 30 
Jun 2020

Release of Q1 
results 30 Sep 

2020

Annual 
Meeting of 

Shareholders

Nov 2019 Feb 2020 June 2020* June 2020 Sep 2020 Nov 2020 Nov 2020

* To be noted that Legislation was amended to authorise extension for submission of quarterly accounts in the context of sanitary crisis (COVID-19).

As required by Law, The Bee produces and publishes quarterly, half-yearly and annual reports which are also submitted to 
the Stock Exchange of Mauritius and the Financial Services Commission. In addition to compliance with periodic reportorial 
requirements, the Board places great importance on an open and transparent communication with all the stakeholders of the 
Company and as such ensures that the Company promptly discloses to its stakeholders and the public at large, any market 
sensitive information.

One of the most important shareholders’ related events is the Annual Meeting of the Company. This meeting, which is the 
principle forum for dialogue with Shareholders, aims at providing to all Shareholders up-to-date and comprehensive information 
in an efficient manner. The Shareholders of the Company are encouraged to attend the Annual Meeting to discuss with the 
Directors and Chairman of the Company about various issues. The External Auditors of the Company namely Ernst & Young are 
invited to attend the Annual Meeting and are available to Shareholders to answer questions relevant to their scope of work.
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The attendance of Directors at the last Annual Meeting of the Company held on 26 November 2019 was as follows:

Directors Attended Yes/No

Jean-Claude Béga Yes

Jan Boullé No

Olivier Fayolle Yes

Stéphane Henry Yes

Delphine Lagesse Yes

Madhukar Gujadhur No

Sattar Jackaria Yes

Denis-Claude Pilot No

SHAREHOLDING PROFILE 

The stated capital of the Company is made up of 8,820,947 ordinary shares of Rs1.- each

SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE 

P.O.L.I.C.Y LTD* IBL LTD

THE BEE EQUITY 
PARTNERS LTD

OTHER 
SHAREHOLDERS

9.30% 34.95% 55.75%

* P.O.L.I.C.Y. LTD having a stake exceeding 5% in the share capital of the Company is hence considered as a substantial shareholder of the Company.
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MAIN SHAREHOLDERS 

The 5 largest shareholders of The Bee as at 30 June 2020 are set out below:

Number of Ordinary Shares Owned % of Total Issued Shares

IBL Ltd 3,083,292 34.95

P.O.L.I.C.Y. LTD 820,567 9.30

Proxy Investments Ltd 213,828 2.42

IPRO Growth Fund Ltd 119,700 1.35

M. I. Kathrada & Sons Ltd 118,505 1.34

COMMON DIRECTORS

The common Directors at holding level of The Bee, namely, IBL Ltd as the ultimate holding company and P.O.L.I.C.Y. Ltd as a 
substantial shareholder. The current Directors of The Bee who also sit on the Board of IBL Ltd and P.O.L.I.C.Y. Ltd are as follows: 

The Bee IBL Ltd P.O.L.I.C.Y. Ltd

Jean-Claude Béga* √ -

Sydney Ah Yoong - √

Jan Boullé ** √ -

Olivier Fayolle - -

Madhukar Gujadhur - -

Delphine Lagesse - -

Sattar Jackaria - -

Denis-Claude Pilot - -

* Chairman of The Bee

** Chairman of IBL Ltd

The Directors’ brief profiles as well as their respective list of directorships are set out on pages 10 to 11.
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SHAREHOLDING PROFILE

The share ownership and categories of shareholders at 30 June 2020 are set out below:

Number of Shareholders Size of Shareholding Number of Ordinary Shares Owned % of Total Issued Shares

1,339 1 - 500 shares 160,973 1.82

240 501 - 1,000 shares 170,328 1.93

337 1,001 - 5,000 shares 795,480 9.02

73 5,001 - 10,000 shares 525,319 5.96

85 10,001 - 50,000 shares 1,713,358 19.42

15 50,001 - 100,000 shares 998,921 11.32

4 100,001 - 250,000 shares 552,709 6.27

0 250,001 - 500,000 shares 0 0.00

2 Over 500,000 shares 3,903,859 44.26

2,095 8,820,947 100.00

Number of Shareholders Category of Shareholders
Number of Ordinary 

Shares Owned
% of Total Issued Shares

1,942 Individuals 3,416,945 38.74

1  Insurance and Assurance Companies 84,408 0.96

39 Pension and Provident Funds 1,140,869 12.93

29 Investment and Trust Companies 400,398 4.54

84 Other Corporate Bodies 3,778,327 42.83

2,095 8,820,947 100.00

Number of Shareholders Category of Shareholders Number of Shares Owned % of Total Issued Shares

2,065 Local 8,677,213 98.37

30 Foreign 143,734 1.63

2,095 8,820,947 100.00

DIVIDEND POLICY

The current dividend policy is based on various factors including the Company’s operating performance, dividend yield and 
future capital needs. As required by the Mauritius Companies Act 2001, for each declaration of dividend, the Directors ensure 
that the Company satisfies the solvency test and accordingly, sign a certificate confirming that the Company is solvent.

No dividend was declared by the Board during the year under review (2019: Rs 0.70).

THE BEE’S CONSTITUTION

A copy of the Constitution is available on the following web address: www.thebee.mu and upon request in writing to the 
Company Secretary at the Registered Office of the Company, 4th Floor, IBL House, Caudan Waterfront, Port Louis.

There are no clauses of the Constitution deemed material enough for special disclosure.
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SHARE PRICE INFORMATION

At the date of the approval of this Corporate Governance Report by the Board on 24 September 2020, the share of The Bee is 
quoted at Rs 23.50 on the Development & Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius. 
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DEMEX The Bee Equity Partners

Moreover, all important documents are available on a dedicated section on the following web address: www.thebee.mu.

POLITICAL DONATIONS

The Company has donated Rs 250,000 as political donation during the year under review (2019: Nil).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Company did not make any charitable donations (2019: Rs 75,000). 

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION

The Directors and Officers of the Company are covered by a Directors’ and Officers’ indemnity insurance cover.

SHARE REGISTRY AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Ocorian Corporate Administrators Limited

The Share Registry and Transfer Office, Ocorian Corporate Administrators Limited, is responsible for maintaining the Company’s 
register of Shareholders. Hence, for any enquiries with regard to shareholding, such as updating personal details, checking the 
shareholding and dividend payments, the Shareholders can contact them by telephone on  
(+230) 403 6000 or in writing at the following address: 6th Floor, Tower A, 1 CyberCity, Ebène.

A shareholder having dividend paid by cheque may request Ocorian Corporate Administrators Limited to be paid directly into 
a bank account on the same day that the dividend is paid. This might be more convenient to reduce the risk of cheques being 
lost or delayed by the post. Upon payment of dividend directly into a bank account, the shareholder will receive the associated 
credit advice at his registered address.

 

Jean-Claude Béga Denis-Claude Pilot
Chairman Director

24 September 2020

THE BEE EQUITY PARTNERS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 202046

(Section 75 (3) of the Financial Reporting Act)

Name of Public Interest Entity (PIE): The Bee Equity Partners Ltd (‘The Bee’ or ‘the Company’)

Reporting Period: 30 June 2020

We, the Directors of The Bee, confirm to the best of our knowledge that the Company has complied with all of its obligations 
and requirements under the Code of Corporate Governance.

 

Jean-Claude Béga Denis-Claude Pilot
Chairman Director

24 September 2020

Statement
of Compliance
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STATUTORY DISCLOSURES
(PURSUANT TO SECTION 221 OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2001 AND SECTION 88 OF THE SECURITIES ACT 2005)

The Directors have the pleasure in presenting the Annual Report of The Bee Equity Partners Ltd together with the audited financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2020. 

State of affairs and review of activities

The main activity of the Company is the holding of investments.

The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year is set out on page 59.

The Directors have made an assessment of going concern, taking into account both the Company’s current performance and the Company’s 
outlook, which considered the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, using the information available up to the date of these financial statements.

At 30 June 2020, liquidity which consists of unencumbered cash was Rs116m (30 June 2019: Rs107m). This financial position and liquidity 
profile provide confidence that the Company has sufficient financial resources for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors believe 
that the Company is well positioned to manage its businesses and liabilities as they fall due and consider it appropriate to prepare the financial 
statements of the Company on a going concern basis.

Dividend 

No dividend was declared by the Board for the year ended 30 June 2020 - (30 June 2019: Rs 0.70 per share).

Directors

The name of the Directors of the Company as at 30 June 2020 were as follows:

Directors of the Company

Jean-Claude Béga (Chairman) 
Jan Boullé
Olivier Fayolle 
Madhukar Gujadhur 
Sattar Jackaria 
Delphine Lagesse – appointed as Director on 11 September 2019
Denis-Claude Pilot 

Directors of the Company who ceased to hold office:

Stéphane Henry - resigned as Director on 19 June 2020

Directors’ and Senior Officers’ share interest

The direct and indirect interests of the Directors and the Senior Officers in the securities of the Company as at 30 June 2020 were as follows:

Direct Interests
Indirect 
Interests

Directors Shares % %
Jean-Claude Béga - - 0.0144

Jan Boullé - - 0.0027

Olivier Fayolle - - -

Madhukar Gujadhur - - -

Sattar Jackaria - - -

Denis-Claude Pilot - - -

Delphine Lagesse - - -

Senior Officers

IBL Management Ltd - - -

Julien Venner - - -

The Directors and the Senior Officers did not hold any shares in its subsidiary whether directly or indirectly.
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Directors’ remuneration and benefits
Remuneration and benefits received, or due and receivable, by the Directors from the Company and its subsidiary were as follows:

30 June 2020 30 June 2019
Executive 
Directors

Non-Executive
Directors

Executive 
Directors

Non-Executive
Directors

Rs Rs Rs Rs
The Company 
The Bee Equity Partners Ltd 4,373,577 625,205 3,482,686 546,594

The individual remuneration of Executive and Non-Executive Directors is disclosed in Corporate Governance Report section on pages  27 & 28.

Directors’ service contracts

Mr. Olivier Fayolle, the Executive Director of the Company, has a service contract with no expiry term with The Bee Equity Partners Ltd.

Contract of significance

There was no contract of significance between the Company and any of the Directors during the year under review.

Donations (Political and Charitable)

The Company has made political donations of Rs 250,000 and no charitable donations during the year under review (2019: Political donations: 
Nil and Charitable donations: Rs 75,000). The 2% Corporate Social Responsibility contribution will be directly paid to the Mauritius Revenue 
Authority. 

Auditors’ remuneration

The fees paid or payable to the Auditors, for audit and other services, inclusive of VAT, were:  

30 June 2020 30 June 2019
Audit Others* Audit Others*

Rs Rs Rs Rs

Ernst & Young 431,250 35,000 431,250 35,525

*Please refer to the section relating to ‘Non-Audit Services’ in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Auditors, Ernst & Young, have expressed their willingness to continue in office and a resolution proposing their reappointment will be 
submitted to the Annual Meeting.

Acknowledgements

The Directors wish to place on record their sincere appreciation and gratitude to management and personnel for the work done during the year.

By order of the Board

 

Jean-Claude Béga Denis-Claude Pilot
Chairman Director

24 September 2020
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COMPANY SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the Company has filed with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required 
of the Company under the Companies Act 2001.

Doris Dardanne, FCIS
Per IBL Management Ltd
Company Secretary

24 September 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE BEE EQUITY PARTNERS LTD

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of The Bee Equity Partners Ltd (“the Company”) as set out on pages 58 to 101 which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 30 June 2020, and of their financial 
performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and comply with the 
Companies Act 2001 and the Financial Reporting Act 2004.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Mauritius, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  For each matter below, our description of how our audit 
addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report, 
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to 
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements. 

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

1. Valuation of unlisted investments in equities (including 
associates and subsidiaries)

Unlisted investments, which are carried at fair value, amounted to 
Rs 164,075k as at 30 June 2020 (2019: Rs 141,838k).

A significant portion of investments are unquoted investments, 
implying that the valuation techniques make use of inputs that 
have a significant effect on the recorded fair value and that are 
not based on observable market data. The valuation process is 
therefore highly judgemental thus giving rise to significant risk of 
material misstatement.

The valuation of the assets held in the investment portfolio is 
the key driver of the Company’s net asset value and total return. 
Incorrect asset pricing could have a significant impact on portfolio 
valuation and, therefore, the return generated for shareholders. 

The Company adopts a valuation methodology based on the 
International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation 2018 
(“IPEV”) guidelines, in conformity with IFRS 13 – Fair Value 
Measurements (“IFRS 13”). 

Owing to the unquoted and illiquid nature of these investments, 
the assessment of fair valuation is subjective and requires a 
number of significant and complex judgements to be made by 
management.

Our procedures tested 100% of the portfolio investments.

We obtained an understanding of management’s processes 
and controls for determining the fair valuation of unquoted 
investments. This included discussing with management the 
valuation governance structure and protocols around their 
oversight of the valuation process.

We compared management’s valuation methodology to IFRS and 
the IPEV guidelines. We sought explanations from management 
where there were judgements applied in its application of the 
guidelines and assessed their appropriateness.

With the assistance of our valuations specialists we determined 
for all investments an independent range for key assumptions 
with reference to the relevant industry and market valuation 
considerations. We then derived a range of fair values using our 
assumptions and other qualitative risk factors. We compared 
these ranges of values with those of management and discussed 
our results with management.

With respect to unquoted investments, we corroborated key 
inputs in the valuation models, such as earnings and net debt to 
source data. We also performed the following procedures on key 
judgements made by management in the calculation of fair value:

• Assessed the suitability of the comparable companies used in 
the calculation of the earnings multiple;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE BEE EQUITY PARTNERS LTD

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

1. Valuation of unlisted investments in equities (including 
associates and subsidiaries) (Continued)

The exit value will be determined by the market at the time of 
realisation and therefore despite the valuation policy adopted and 
judgements made by management, the final sales proceeds may 
differ materially from the valuation at the year end.

There is the risk that inaccurate judgements made in the 
assessment of fair value, in particular in respect of; earnings 
multiples, the application of liquidity discounts, calculation of 
discount rates and the estimation of maintainable earnings, 
could lead to the incorrect valuation of the unquoted proprietary 
investment portfolio. In turn, this could materially misstate the 
value of the Investment Portfolio in the statement of financial 
position, the Gross Investment Return and Total Return in the 
statement of comprehensive income, and the Net Asset Value per 
share.

We have also considered the risk of management override at 
deriving the judgement and estimates in respect of unquoted 
investment valuations.

The risk has increased in the current year due to the timing and 
uncertainty of the COVID – 19 pandemic and the consequent 
impact on valuations.

Given the degree of judgment that need to be applied and 
given that the assumptions used can materially affect the 
reported amounts, we have considered the valuation of unlisted 
investments as a Key Audit Matter.

Refer to note 11 for further disclosure on the valuation of 
investments.

(Continued)

• Challenged management on the applicability of adjustments 
made to earnings multiples by obtaining rationale and 
supporting evidence for adjustments made;

• Performed corroborative calculations to assess the 
appropriateness of discounts rates; 

• Discussed with management the adjustments made to 
calculate maintainable earnings and corroborated these to 
supporting documentation; and

• Assessed the reasonableness of cash flow projection, 
challenging and performing audit procedures on 
management’s assumptions such as the future growth 
rate, selling prices and discount rates by comparing the 
assumptions to historical results and published market and 
industry data and by comparing the current year’s results with 
the prior year forecasts and other relevant information.  

We have considered the impact of COVID – 19 throughout the 
procedures performed on the valuation of unquoted investments, 
by challenging whether the valuation methodologies and 
assumptions used remained appropriate, with reference to the 
special Valuation Guidance issued by the IPEV Board in March 
2020.

We held discussions with management about the most material 
asset in the portfolio, accompanied by our valuations specialists, 
which enabled us to corroborate our understanding of, and gain 
specific insights into, the asset.

We checked the mathematical accuracy of the valuation models. 
We recalculated the unrealised profits on the revaluation of 
investment impacting the statement of comprehensive income. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE BEE EQUITY PARTNERS LTD

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

2. Valuation of Investment Property 
 
Investment Property consist of freehold land and buildings (Note 
7) and amounted to Rs 62,271k as at 30 June 2020 (30 June 
2019: Rs 62,271k). 
 
As set out in the accounting policies in Note 2 to the financial 
statements, investment property is carried at fair value and 
increases and decreases in fair value are recognised in statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 
On June 30, 2020, investment property was revalued by Noor 
Dilmohamed & Associates, Chartered Practising Valuer, who 
is an independent valuation specialist. The fair value of the 
property was determined by taking into account active market 
prices of comparable properties, adjusted for difference in the 
nature, location or condition of the specific property.  
 
The determination of fair value requires significant judgement by 
both the independent valuation specialist and the Directors who 
reassess the valuations periodically. 
 
Inappropriate estimates made in the fair valuation of investment 
property would result in a significant impact on the Company’s 
results and on the carrying amount of the property. 
 
As such, we have identified the fair valuation of Investment 
Property as a key audit matter because the Company’s main 
activity is the holdings of investments.

Our audit procedures included the following:

• We have obtained, read and understood the 2020 valuation 
report from the independent valuation specialist. We have also 
tested the mathematical accuracy of the report.

• We have evaluated the competence, capabilities and 
objectivity of management’s expert and further confirmed the 
independence of the valuation expert.

• We have held discussions with the independent valuation 
expert to obtain an understanding of the valuation 
methodology, key inputs, significant assumptions and estimates 
used and whether there were events or market condition 
changes that could have significantly impacted the fair value of 
the investment property in the year under review. 

• We enquired with management about their assessment of fair 
value as reported by the independent valuation specialist.

• We reviewed the disclosures about significant estimates and 
critical judgments made by management in the financial 
statements in respect of valuation of investment property. 
We have also ensured adequate disclosures as per IAS 40 
Investment Property and other sensitivity disclosures in respect 
of the effects on fair value to changes in the assumptions and 
valuation techniques under IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements 
have been made in the financial statements. 

Other Information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the 
Corporate Governance Report, Statutory disclosures and the Company Secretary’s Certificate as required by the Companies Act 2001, but does 
not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information (except the Corporate Governance Report) and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE BEE EQUITY PARTNERS LTD

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Corporate governance report

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Corporate Governance Report. Our responsibility under the Financial Reporting Act 2004 is to 
report on the compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance (the “Code”) disclosed in the annual report and assess the explanations given 
for non-compliance with any requirement of the Code. From our assessment of the disclosures made on corporate governance in the annual 
report, the Company has, pursuant to section 75 of the Financial Reporting Act, complied with the requirements of the Code.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2001 and the Financial Reporting Act 2004, and for such internal control as 
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
the Directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE BEE EQUITY PARTNERS LTD

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law 
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 205 of the Companies Act 2001. Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company 
and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

Companies Act 2001

We have no relationship with or interests in the Company other than in our capacity as auditors, tax advisors and dealings in the ordinary course 
of business.  

We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required.  

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as it appears from our examination of those records.

 

ERNST & YOUNG ANJAALA RAMKHELAWON, F.C.A.
Ebène, Mauritius Licensed by FRC

25 September 2020
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019
Notes Rs’000 Rs’000

Assets
Property, plant and equipment 5  376  506 
Intangible assets 6  48  82 
Right-of-use assets 28  566  - 
Deferred tax assets 14  66  117 
Investment property 7  62,271  62,271 
Investment in subsidiary 12  96,287  102,058 
Investment in associates 13  54,158  22,851 
Equity instruments 8  92,005  124,801 
Debt instruments 9  104,127  148,705 
Trade and other receivables 15  6,181  29,449 
Cash and cash equivalents 17  116,317  106,845 
Total assets  532,402  597,685 

Liabilities
Employee benefit liabilities 19  461  903 
Lease liabilities 28  583  - 
Trade and other payables 16  6,391  5,226 
Current tax liabilities 20  163  523 
Total liabilities  7,598  6,652 

Equity
Stated capital 18  8,821  8,821 
Retained earnings  515,983  582,212 
Total equity  524,804  591,033 
Total liabilities and equity  532,402  597,685 

Approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 24 September 2020

The notes on pages 62 to 101 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Auditor’s report on pages 53 to 57.

 

Jean-Claude Béga Denis-Claude Pilot
Chairman Director

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019
Notes Rs’000 Rs’000

Income
Effective interest income 21  7,381  10,260 
Dividend income 22  12,486  20,089 
Net gains on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 23  -  5,966 
Other income 24  594  175 
Foreign exchange gains  328  - 
Total income  20,789  36,490 

Expense
Administrative expenses 25  (16,348)  (15,522)
Finance costs 28  (52)  - 
Net losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 23  (54,710)  - 
Foreign exchange losses  -  (196)
Expected credit losses 15  (16,260)  (6,181)
Total expense  (87,370)  (21,899)

Profit/(loss) before tax  (66,581)  14,591 
Tax expense 20  (89)  (343)
Profit/(loss) for the year  (66,670)  14,248 
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligations 19  532  296 
Deferred tax on remeasurement of retirement benefit obligations 14  (91)  (50)
Other comprehensive income for the year  441  246 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  (66,229)  14,494 
Basic and diluted earnings per share (in Rs) 27  (7.56)  1.62 

The notes on pages 62 to 101 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Auditor’s report on pages 53 to 57.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Stated
capital

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
At 1 July 2018  8,821  573,893  582,714 
Profit for the year  -  14,248  14,248 
Other comprehensive income for the year  -  246  246 
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  14,494  14,494 
Dividends  -  (6,175)  (6,175)
At 30 June 2019  8,821  582,212  591,033 
At 1 July 2019  8,821  582,212  591,033 
Loss for the year  -    (66,670)  (66,670)
Other comprehensive income for the year  -    441  441 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  -  (66,229)  (66,229)
At 30 June 2020  8,821  515,983  524,804 

The notes on pages 62 to 101 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Auditor’s report on pages 53 to 57.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019
Notes Rs’000 Rs’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/Profit before tax  (66,581)  14,591 
Adjustments to reconcile profit or loss before tax to net cash flows :
     Net losses/(gains) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 23  54,710  (5,966)
     Interest income 21  (7,381)  (10,260)
     Dividend income 22  (12,486)  (20,089)
     Employee benefit liabilities 19  90  350 
     Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 5  130  129 
     Amortisation on intangible asset 6  34  20 
     Depreciation on right-of-use assets 28  523  - 
     Interest on lease liabilities 28  52  - 
     Expected Credit Losses 15  16,260  6,181 
Working capital adjustments:
     (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (70)  2,260 
     Increase in trade and other payables  1,162  2,230 
Interest received  7,726  6,990 
Dividend received  20,378  12,010 
Cash generated from operating activities  14,547  8,446 
Interest on lease liabilities 28  (52)  - 
Tax paid 20  (489)  (832)
Net cash generated from operating activities  14,006  7,614 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 5  -  (211)
Purchase of intangible asset 6  -  (102)
Proceeds from disposal of investments  86,220  149,367 
Acquisition of investments  (90,248)  (106,486)
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities  (4,028)  42,568 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of lease liabilities 28  (506)  - 
Dividend paid to shareholders  -  (6,175)
Net cash used in financing activities  (506)  (6,175)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  9,472  44,007 
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 July   106,845  62,838 
Cash and cash equivalents as at 30 June  116,317  106,845 

The notes on pages 62 to 101 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Auditor’s report on pages 53 to 57.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 

The financial statements of The Bee Equity Partners Ltd (the “Company”) for the year ended 30 June 2020 were authorised for issue 
in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 24 September 2020. 

The Bee Equity Partners Ltd is a public company incorporated in Mauritius and listed on the Development Enterprises Market (DEM) 
of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius. 

The registered office of the Company is situated at 4th Floor, IBL House, Caudan Waterfront, Port Louis, and the place of business of 
the Company is situated at 1st floor, IBL House, Caudan Waterfront, Port-Louis.

The main activity of the Company is the holding of investments. The investment objective of the Company is to achieve consistent 
risk-adjusted medium-term returns while safeguarding capital, by investing in a diversified portfolio of investment properties, equity 
securities and interest-bearing instruments.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below:

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). These separate financial statements have been prepared as the 
only financial statements of the Company. The financial statements have been prepared on a historical-cost basis, except for financial 
assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) and investment properties that have been measured at fair 
value. 

The financial statements are presented in Mauritian rupees, which is the functional currency of the Company, and all values are rounded 
to the nearest thousand rupees (Rs’000), except where otherwise indicated.

The Company presents its statement of financial position in order of liquidity. An analysis in respect of recovery or settlement within 
12 months after the reporting date (current) and more than 12 months after the reporting date (non-current) is presented in Note 30.

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The Company is an investment entity, therefore, it holds its investments in subsidiaries at fair value rather than consolidating them 
(see Note 3). The Company also holds its interests in associates at fair value. Investments in subsidiaries and associates are classified 
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9.

2.3 Going concern

The Directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Therefore, they continue to adopt the going concern basis 
of preparing the financial statements, as detailed in the statutory disclosures on page 50.

In assessing the Company’s ability to continue in its capacity as a going concern, the Company performed additional assessments to 
determine the viability of the business through the unprecedented impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

As part of this assessment the Board of Directors of the Company considered:

• The immediate risks posed by the pandemic to the health and wellbeing of employees and to business continuity;

• The operational resilience of the Company’s critical functions to maintain risk management and compliance. Including IT, Finance, 
Treasury and Operations;

• The regulatory and legal environment and any potential conduct risks which could arise;

• Fair value of investments that are not quoted in an active market are determined by the Company’s valuation techniques described 
in note 11. A key focus of the portfolio valuations as at 30 June 2020 was an assessment of impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on 
each portfolio company, considering the performance before the pandemic outbreak, as well as the projected short-term impact 
on the ability to generate earnings and cash flows and also the longer term view of their ability to recover.

The Directors have concluded based on the above assessment that the preparation of the financial statements on a going concern 
basis continues to be appropriate.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

2.4.1 Financial instruments 

(I) Classification 

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial recognition into the categories of 
financial assets and financial liabilities discussed below. 

In applying that classification, a financial asset or financial liability is considered to be held for trading if: 

(a) It is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term; 

Or 

(b) On initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which, there is 
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; 

Or 

(c) It is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument). 

Financial assets 

The Company classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost or measured at fair value through profit or loss 
on the basis of both: 

• The entity’s business model for managing the financial assets;

• The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A debt instrument is measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order 
to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding. The Company includes in this category debt instruments, cash and cash equivalents 
and trade and other receivables. 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 

A financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or loss if: 

(a) Its contractual terms do not give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the 
principal amount outstanding; 

Or 

(b) It is not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect contractual cash flows, or to both collect contractual cash 
flows and sell; 

Or 

(c) At initial recognition, it is irrevocably designated as measured at FVPL when doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement 
or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them 
on different bases.

The Company discloses in this category all equity instruments, including investment in subsidiaries and associates: 

• Investment in subsidiaries: in accordance with the exception under IFRS 10, the Company does not consolidate subsidiaries in 
the financial statements unless the subsidiary is not itself an investment entity and its main purpose and activities are providing 
services that relate to the Company’s investment activities. The Company has no consolidated subsidiaries. The Company measures 
unconsolidated subsidiaries at FVPL.

• Investment in associates: in accordance with the exemption in IAS 28 Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures, the Company 
does not account for its investments in associates using the equity method. Instead, the Company has elected to measure its 
investment in associates at FVPL.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.4.1 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities

The classification of financial liabilities under IFRS 9 remains broadly the same as under IAS 39. The main impact on measurement 
from classification of liabilities under IFRS 9 relates to the element of gains or losses for financial liabilities, designated as at FVPL 
attributable to changes in credit risk. IFRS 9 requires that such element be recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI), unless this 
treatment creates or enlarges an accounting mismatch in profit or loss, in which case, all gains and losses on that liability (including the 
effects of changes in credit risk) should be presented in profit or loss. The Company has not designated any financial liabilities at FVPL. 

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)

A financial liability is measured at FVPL if it meets the definition of held for trading. The Company does not hold any such instruments.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

This category includes all financial liabilities, other than those measured at fair value through profit or loss. The Company includes in 
this category trade and other payables. 

(II) Recognition

The Company recognises a financial asset or a financial liability when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or 
convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Company commits to 
purchase or sell the asset.  

(III) Initial measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. All transaction costs for 
such instruments are recognised directly in profit or loss. 

Financial assets and liabilities (other than those classified as at FVPL) are measured initially at their fair value plus any directly attributable 
incremental costs of acquisition or issue. 

(IV) Subsequent measurement

After initial measurement, the Company measures financial instruments which are classified as at FVPL, at fair value. Subsequent 
changes in the fair value of those financial instruments are recorded in net gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities at FVPL in the 
statement of comprehensive income. Interest and dividends earned or paid on these instruments are recorded separately in interest 
revenue or expense and dividend revenue or expense in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Debt instruments, other than those classified as at FVPL, are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any 
allowance for impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the debt instruments are derecognised or impaired, 
as well as through the amortisation process. 

Financial liabilities, other than those classified as at FVPL, are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains 
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process. 

The effective interest method (EIR) is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of 
allocating and recognising the interest income or interest expense in profit or loss over the relevant period. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial 
liability to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost of the financial liability. When calculating the 
effective interest rate, the Company estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments, but does not 
consider expected credit losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral 
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. 

THE BEE EQUITY PARTNERS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 202064

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.4.1 Financial instruments (Cont’d)

(V) Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or a part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised where 
the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the 
asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a pass-through 
arrangement and the Company has: 

(a) Transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset; 

Or 

(b) Neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset (or has entered into a pass-through arrangement), 
and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the 
asset is recognised to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Company also recognises an 
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations 
that the Company has retained. 

The Company derecognises a financial liability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

2.4.2 Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) on investments in debt instruments that are measured at 
amortised cost and receivable balances from related parties. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date 
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Company recognises lifetime ECL on loans when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 
However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company measures 
the loss allowance for the financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a 
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company compares 
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Company considers both quantitative and qualitative 
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available 
without undue cost or effort. The Company assumes that credit risk on a financial asset has significantly increased if it is more than 30 
days past due.

(ii) Definition of default

The Company considers a trade receivable to be in default when contractual payments are past due for a period ranging from 90 
to 360 days depending on the business environment in which each entity operates. However, in certain cases, the Company may 
also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the entity is unlikely to receive the 
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the entity. 

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset 
is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets 
have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

• Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

• A breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; or

• It is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation. 
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.4.2 Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

(iv) Write off policy

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. Financial assets written 
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Company’s recovery procedures. Any recoveries made are recognised in 
profit or loss.

(v) Recognition of expected credit losses

The Company recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to 
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

2.4.3 Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, 
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. This is generally not the case with master netting agreements unless one party 
to the agreement defaults and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the statement of financial position. 

2.4.4 Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.  Such cost 
includes the cost of replacing part of such plant and equipment when that cost is incurred, if the recognition criteria are met.  When 
significant parts of the plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company depreciates them separately based 
on their specific useful lives. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, the cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant 
and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied.  All other repairs and maintenances costs are recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of each asset to its residual value over its estimated useful 
life.  Residual value is the estimated amount that the Company would currently obtain from disposal of the asset after deducting the 
estimated cost of disposal and if the asset was already at the age and in condition expected at the end of its useful life.

The principal annual rates used are:

Plant, machinery and equipment 33.33%
Furniture and fittings 10%

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. The assets’ residual values, useful 
lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed, and adjusted prospectively if appropriate, at each financial year end.

2.4.5 Investment properties

Investment properties are measured initial at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties 
are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of 
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, including the corresponding tax effect. Fair values 
are determined based on an annual valuation performed by an accredited external independent valuer applying a valuation model 
recommended by the International valuation Standards Committee.

Investment properties are derecognized either when they have been disposed of or when they are permanently withdrawn from use 
and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of asset is recognized in profit or loss in the period of derecognition.

Transfer are made to (or from) investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment property to 
owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied 
property becomes an investment property, the Company accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under 
property, plant and equipment up to the date of change in use.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.4.6 Fair value measurement

The Company measures its investments in property, subsidiary and associates as well as its investments in financial instruments, such 
as equity instruments, at fair value at each reporting date. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, in the most 
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Company. 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or 
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes 
into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it 
to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their quoted price (bid price for long 
positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. 

For all other financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using valuation techniques deemed 
to be appropriate in the circumstances. Valuation techniques include the market approach (i.e., using recent arm’s length market 
transactions, adjusted as necessary, and reference to the current market value of another instrument that is substantially the same) and 
the income approach (i.e., discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models making as much use of available and supportable 
market data as possible). 

For assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company identifies transfers between levels in the 
hierarchy by re-assessing the categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole), and deems transfers to have occurred at the beginning of each reporting period. 

2.4.7 Taxation

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to 
the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial 
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax liabilities are recognized when the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future 
credits and any unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: when the deferred 
tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. In respect 
of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax 
assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax 
assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits 
will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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2.4.7 Taxation (Cont’d)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised 
in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current 
income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Corporate Social Responsibility

The Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) was legislated by Government in July 2009. In terms of the legislation, the Company is 
required to allocate 2% of its chargeable income of the preceding financial year to Government approved CSR projects.

The required CSR charge for the current year is recognised as income tax expense in profit or loss. The net amount of Company 
payable to the taxation authority is included as income tax payable in the statement of financial position.

Value Added Tax (VAT)

The Company is not VAT registered. VAT paid by the Company are expensed within the statement of profit or loss.

2.4.8 Employee benefit liabilities

The present value of retirement gratuity as provided under The Employment Rights Act 2008 is recognised in the statement of financial 
position as a non-current liability.

Re-measurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, is reflected immediately in the statement of financial position with a 
charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Re-measurement recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to profit or loss. Past service cost is 
recognised in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning 
of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

• Service cost (including current service cost, past service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and settlements);

• Net interest expense or income;

• Remeasurement.

The Company presents the first two components of defined benefit costs in profit or loss in the line item administrative expenses as 
part of staff costs. Curtailment gains and losses are accounted for as past service costs.

State plan

Contributions to the National Pension Scheme are charged to the profit or loss in the period in which they fall due.

2.4.9 Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for all interest-bearing financial instruments 
using the effective interest method.
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2.4.10 Dividend income and expense

Dividend income is recognised on the date when the Company’s right to receive the payment is established.  Dividend income 
is presented gross of any non-recoverable withholding taxes, which are disclosed separately in the statement of comprehensive 
income. Dividend expense relating to equity securities sold short is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the payment 
is established.

2.4.11 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying economics benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

2.4.12 Related parties

Related parties include individuals and companies where the individual or company has the ability directly or indirectly, to control 
the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Affiliates are related 
parties of the company which cannot be considered as parent or subsidiary as defined by IAS 27, as associate and joint venture as 
defined by IAS 28, or as key management personnel as defined by IAS 24.

2.4.13 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised 
development costs, are not capitalised and related expenditures are reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure 
is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over their useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset 
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern 
of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, 
as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is 
recognised in profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be 
supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. 

Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. The useful economic life of 
the intangible assets has been assessed as follows:

Computer software  33%

2.4.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits in banks that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, with original maturities 
of three months or less.

Short-term investments that are not held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments and restricted margin accounts are 
not considered as ‘cash and cash equivalents’.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net 
of outstanding bank overdrafts when applicable.
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2.4.15 Investment entity

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements requires entities that meet the definition of an investment entity to account for its 
investments in subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss instead of being consolidated.

The Company has multiple investors and indirectly holds multiple investments through the investee companies. The Company has 
been deemed to meet the definition of an investment entity per IFRS 10 as the following conditions exist:

(a) The Company has obtained funds for the purpose of providing investors with investment management services;

(b) The Company’s business purpose which was communicated directly to investors, is investing solely for returns from capital appreciation 
and investment income through the investee companies;

(c) The performance of investments made through the investee companies are measured and evaluated on a fair value basis.

2.4.16 Investment in subsidiary

Subsidiaries are those entities controlled by the Company. Control is determined when the company is exposed to, or has right to 
variable returns from its investment with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The 
Company has assessed that it meets the criteria of IFRS 10 for a subsidiary.

Investment in subsidiary is measured at fair value through profit and loss under IFRS 10.

2.4.17 Investments in associates

Associates are entities over which the Company has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the 
financial and operating policy decisions of the investees, but not control or joint control over these policies.

The Company has elected to apply the exemption from applying the equity method. Investments in associates are measured at fair 
value through profit and loss under IFRS 9.

2.4.18 Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates. The majority of the 
Company’s returns are Mauritian rupee-based, the capital is raised in Mauritian rupees, the performance is evaluated and its liquidity 
is managed in Mauritian rupees. Therefore, the Company concludes that the Mauritian rupee is its functional currency.

The Company’s presentation currency is also the Mauritian rupee.

2.4.19 Foreign currency transactions

Transactions during the period, including purchases and sales of securities, income and expenses, are translated at the rate of exchange 
prevailing on the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling 
at the reporting date.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at 
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Foreign currency transaction gains and losses on financial instruments classified as at FVPL are included in profit or loss in the statement 
of comprehensive income as part of the ‘net gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

2.4.20 Segmental reporting

Management monitors the operating results of its business on a “Company” basis for the purpose of making decisions about resource 
allocation and performance assessment. As such, management considers that there is only one reportable segment, that is, the 
Company itself.
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2.4.21  Leases

Policy effective from 1 July 2019 (IFRS 16)

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Company as a lessee

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use 
the underlying assets.

i) Right-of-use assets

The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available 
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs 
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Motor vehicles and other equipment 3 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase 
option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment whenever there is an indication that the right-of-used asset may be impaired.

ii) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments 
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) excluding any 
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under 
residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised 
by the Company and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising the option to 
terminate.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce 
inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date 
because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities 
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease 
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future 
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an 
option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Company’s lease liabilities are separately disclosed in the statement of financial position.

iii) Short-term leases and leases of low value

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term office rent lease (i.e., lease that have a lease term 
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). The Company does not have lease of low-
value. Lease payments on short-term lease are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

2.4.21 Leases (Cont’d)

Policy effective before 1 July 2019 (IAS 17)

The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement 
at the inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent 
on the use of a specific asset (or assets) and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset (or assets), even if that 
asset is (or those assets are) not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

The Company as a lessee

A lease is classified at the inception date as a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease that transfers substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Company is classified as a finance lease. 

Finance leases are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the inception date fair value of the leased 
property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between 
finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on   the remaining 
balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in finance costs in the statement of  profit or loss. 

A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable certainty   that 
the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter  of the 
estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term. 

An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Operating lease payments are recognised as  an operating 
expense in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.4.22 Distribution to shareholders

Dividends are at the discretion of the Company. A dividend to the Company’s shareholders is accounted for as a deduction from 
retained earnings. An interim dividend is recognised as a liability in the period in which it is irrevocably declared by the Board of 
Directors. A final dividend is recognised as a liability in the period in which it is approved by the annual general meeting of shareholders. 

2.4.23 Net gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Net gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities at FVPL are changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities held for 
trading or designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL and exclude interest and dividend income and expenses. 

Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes in the fair value of financial instruments for the period and from reversal of the prior 
period’s unrealised gains and losses for financial instruments which were realised in the reporting period. Realised gains and losses 
on disposals of financial instruments classified as at FVPL are calculated using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. They represent the 
difference between an instrument’s initial carrying amount and disposal amount, or cash payments or receipts made on derivative 
contracts (excluding payments or receipts on collateral margin accounts for such instruments). 

2.4.24 Fee expense

Fees are recognised on an accrual basis. Refer to Note 25 for professional fees and directors’ fees. Audit fees are included within other 
general expenses.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.5 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 

New and amended standards and interpretations

The Company applied, for the first time, certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2019.

Where the adoption of the standards or amendments or improvements is deemed to have an impact on the financial statements or 
performance of the Company, its impact is described below:

IFRS 16 Lease

IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives 
and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the 
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise most leases on the balance sheet.

Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify leases as either operating 
or finance leases using similar principles as in IAS 17. Therefore, IFRS 16 did not have an impact for leases where the Company is the 
lessor.

The Company adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial application of 1 July 2019. 
Under this method, the standard is applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised at 
the date of initial application. The Company elected to use the transition practical expedient to not reassess whether a contract is, or 
contains a lease at 1 July 2019. Instead, the Company applied the standard only to contracts that were previously identified as leases 
applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application.

The effect of adoption IFRS 16 as at 1 July 2019 (increase) is, as follows:

Rs’000
Assets
Right-of-use assets 1,089
Total assets 1,089
Liabilities
Lease liabilities 1,089
Total Liabilities 1,089

The Company only has one lease contract for motor vehicles. Before the adoption of IFRS 16, the Company classified this lease (as 
lessee) at the inception date as an operating lease. Refer to Note 2.4.21 Leases for the accounting policy prior to 1 July 2019.

Upon adoption of IFRS 16, the Company applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases except for short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets. Refer to Note 2.4.21 Leases for the accounting policy beginning 1 July 2019. The standard 
provides specific transition requirements and practical expedients, which have been applied by the Company.

Leases previously accounted for as operating leases

The Company recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for those leases previously classified as operating leases, except 
for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. For the Company’s operating lease (motor vehicle), the right-of-use asset was 
recognised based on the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted for any related prepaid and accrued lease payments previously 
recognised. Lease liability was recognised based on the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the 
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application.

The Company also applied the available practical expedients wherein it:

• Used a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics

• Relied on its assessment of whether leases are onerous immediately before the date of initial application

• Applied the short-term leases exemptions to leases with lease term that ends within 12 months of the date of initial application

• Excluded the initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application

• Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contained options to extend or terminate the lease
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2.5 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (Cont’d)

New and amended standards and interpretations (Cont’d)

Based on the above, as at 1 July 2019:

• Right-of -use assets of Rs1,089,278 were recognised and presented separately in the statement of financial position.

• Lease liabilities of Rs1,089,278 were recognized and presented separately in the statement of financial position.

The lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019 can be reconciled to the operating lease commitments as of 30 June 2019, as follows:

Assets Rs’000
Operating lease commitments as at 30 June 2019 1,788
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate at 1 July 2019 6,0%
Discounted operating lease commitments as at 1 July 2019 1,532
Less:
Commitments relating to short-term leases (443)
Lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019 1,089

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts recognised in the financial statements and disclosure of contingent liabilities. However, uncertainty about 
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset 
or liability affected in future periods.

3.1 COVID-19 assessment

COVID-19 presents a huge risk to the global economy, and to individual companies and has had a severe impact on economic growth 
forecasts worldwide. The impacts of COVID-19 are not all apparent yet and the position will remain fluid until the length and extent 
of the crisis become clearer. Evidently, not all industries or companies are impacted to the same degree, but the effects are felt by the 
majority of The Bee Equity Partners portfolio companies. Encouragingly, some investee companies demonstrated strong resilience and 
performed well after the lockdown. 

At 30 June 2020, the Directors have made an assessment of the impacts of COVID-19 pandemic on the liquidity and the financial 
position of the Company as follows:

• Liquidity

The Bee has maintained a conservative balance sheet structure with nearly Rs220m of cash and fixed-income assets readily available 
and no debts, which gives the Company a strong position to navigate the current uncertain business environment. 

• Investments

Investments in subsidiary, investments in associates and equity instruments in the statement of financial position have been impacted 
by COVID-19 pandemic as at 30 June 2020. 

The Company’s listed equity portfolio has fallen by 25% from 1 July 2019, following the trend of the SEMDEX over the same period. 
In absolute terms, this represents a loss of Rs26.4m.

Our unquoted portfolio decreased by 15% from 1 July 2019, which represents a loss of Rs28.3m. Our approach to valuation was 
substantially consistent with our normal process and valuation policy. A key focus of the portfolio fair value at 30 June 2020 was an 
assessment of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on each portfolio company. Our approach considered the performance of the 
portfolio companies before the outbreak of COVID-19, the projected short-term impact on their ability to generate earnings and 
cash flow and also our longer-term view of their ability to recover and perform against their investment cases. As a matter of fact, 
multiples were also deeply impacted by COVID-19 and had a substantial impact on market-based earning multiple valuations. Given 
the diversity of our portfolio, the impact has been varied, with portfolio companies exposed to travel and transportation such as PL 
Resorts and Haute Rive Azuri Hotel in the tourism industry, and Identical Media Holding in the film production industry, experiencing 
significant disruption compared to those in construction, like Flacq Associated Stonemasters Ltd which quickly caught-up on their 
initial targets, and in telecommunication, like Atlas and Les Relais.  
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• Expected credit losses

The Company main trade and receivable components consist of 2 shareholders loans granted to PL Resorts and Haute Rive Azuri 
Hotel. In the context of COVID-19 on the tourism industry in Mauritius, our assumptions of recovering the shareholders loans have 
been deeply impacted, as detailed in Note 15 of the financial statements as at 30 June 2020. 

From the gross carrying value of Rs42.4m of shareholders loans, we expect to recover Rs5.7m, in December 2022. The impact on 30 
June 2020 profit or loss is an additional charge of Rs16.2m of expected credit loss.

• Sensitivity

In the near term, equity prices should remain volatile as the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic continue to affect the economy. As a 
result of COVID-19, should the interest rates, equity prices and/or foreign exchange rates be further affected, the potential impacts on 
the Company’s profit or loss and equity are disclosed in Note 10 of the financial statements as at 30 June 2020.

• Going concern  

The Directors have assessed the ability of the Company to continue in its capacity as a going concern and have concluded that the 
preparation of the financial statements on a going concern basis continues to be appropriate. Please refer to note 2.3 of the financial 
statements as at 30 June 2020 for more details.

3.2 Judgements

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

• Assessment as investment entity

Entities that meet the definition of an investment entity within IFRS 10 are required to measure their subsidiaries at FVPL rather than 
consolidate them. The criteria which define an investment entity are, as follows:

1. An entity that obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those investors with investment management 
services;

2. An entity that commits to its investors that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital appreciation, 
investment income, or both;

3. An entity that measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair value basis.

Management has assessed that effective 1 July 2018, the Company meets the definition of an investment entity within IFRS 10. As at 
30 June 2020, management reassessed this position and concluded that the Company still meets the definition.

The Company’s objective is to provide returns in the form of investment income and capital appreciation to its shareholders through 
investments in equities, debt instruments and property investments.

The Company reports to its shareholders via quarterly investor information, and to its management, via internal management reports, 
on a fair value basis. All investments are reported at fair value to the extent allowed by IFRS in the Company’s annual reports. The 
Company has a clearly documented exit strategy for all of its investments.

The Board has also concluded that the Company meets the additional characteristics of an investment entity, in that it has more than 
one investment; the Company’s ownership interests are predominantly in the form of equities and similar securities; it has more than 
one investor and its investors are not related parties.

The Board has concluded that the Company meets the definition of an investment entity. These conclusions will be reassessed on a 
continuous basis, if any of these criteria or characteristics change.

THE BEE EQUITY PARTNERS LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2020 75



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONT’D)

3.3 Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below. 
The Company based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. However, 
existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments may change due to market changes or circumstances arising 
beyond the control of the Company. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

• Fair value

Where the fair value of financial assets recorded on the statement of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, their 
fair value is determined using valuation techniques including the discounted cash flow model. The inputs to those models are taken 
from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree if judgement is required in establishing fair values. 
The judgements include considerations of inputs such as discount rates, liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions 
about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. 

For fair value of financial instruments and investment properties, please refer to Note 11.

• Calculation of loss allowance

When measuring ECL the Company uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking information, which is based on assumptions 
for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect each other. In the context of COVID-19, the 
Company has recalibrated all its forward-looking assumptions.

With regard to debt instruments, the Company determines their credit rating to measure their probability of default by reference to 
the country rating. Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual 
cash flows due and those that the entity would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from credit enhancements. The 
Company has determined that there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the instruments since 
there has been no history of event of default. In the context of COVID-19, the Company has used the credit spread approach on a 
fixed deposit instrument, where ECL = (Pv Risk Free (Deposit maturity value) - Pv Risky (Deposit maturity value)). Please refer to Note 9.

The Company’s receivables from related parties are mainly repayable on demand and where the related companies do not have 
unrestricted cash at reporting date to repay the debts, management has determined expected credit losses based on future cash flows 
on the basis that the entities will continue to operate. In the context of COVID-19, the Company has reviewed its assumptions on its 
loans to associates, which had a significant impact on ECL as detailed in Note 15.

Except for debt instruments and shareholder’s loans as detailed above, the Company did not provide detailed information on how the 
forecast economic conditions have been incorporated in the determination of ECL because the impact is not significant.

The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Company’s historical credit loss 
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of actual default in the future. 

4 RELEVANT NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following relevant new and revised Standards were in issue but effective 
on annual periods beginning on or after the respective dates as indicated:

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Amendments regarding the definition of material (effective 1 January 2020)

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors – Amendments regarding the definition of material (effective 
1 January 2020)

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Original issue (effective 1 January 2023)

IFRS 3 Definition of a Business

The Directors anticipate that these Standards and Interpretation will be applied on their effective dates in future periods. The Directors 
also do not expect those amendments to have a material impact on the Company.
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture and
Fittings

Computer
Equipment Total

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Cost
At 1 July 2018  347  190  537 
Additions  124  87  211 
At 30 June 2019  471  277  748 
Additions  -  -  - 
At 30 June 2020  471  277  748 

Depreciation
At 1 July 2018  40  73  113 
Charge for the year  45  84  129 
At 30 June 2019  85  157  242 
Charge for the year  47  83  130 
At 30 June 2020  132  240  372 

Net book value
At 30 June 2020  339  37  376 
At 30 June 2019  386  120  506 

The Directors have reviewed the carrying values of the property, plant and equipment and are of the opinion that at 30 June 2020, the 
carrying values have not suffered any impairment.

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Licences with 
definite useful 

life
Rs’000

Cost
At 1 July 2018  - 
Additions  102 
At 30 June 2019  102 
Additions  - 
At 30 June 2020  102 

Amortisation
At 1 July 2018  - 
Charge for the year  20 
At 30 June 2019  20 
Charge for the year  34 
At 30 June 2020  54 

Net book value
At 30 June 2020  48 
At 30 June 2019  82 

Additions during the year ended 30 June 2019 relate to accounting software amortised over 3 years.

The Directors have reviewed the carrying value of the intangible asset and are of the opinion that at 30 June 2020, the carrying value has 
not suffered any impairment.
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7. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

2020 2019
At fair value Rs’000 Rs’000
At 30 June 62,271 62,271 

Investment property consists of a portion of land of 18,89 arpents located in the District of Flacq.

The investment property was  revalued at 30 June 2020 by Mr. Noor Dilmohamed, Bsc (Appl) Val, Dip L.S. FAPI, Certified Practising 
Valuer and Registered Valuer, not related to the Company. The valuer is also a member of Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, and 
has appropriate qualifications and recent experience in valuation of similar properties. The fair value was determined based on the Open 
Market Value Approach where a property could be exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller 
in an arm’s length transaction.

As at 30 June 2020, management has determined that there is no evidence that the COVID-19 pandemic will materially impact land value 
in Mauritius, in light of the local property market’s dynamics, specificities and recent activity.

The fair value is categorised as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy in Note 11.

There was no rental income from investment property in 2020 and 2019, and no direct operating expenses attributable to the development 
of the investment property in 2020 and 2019.

8. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July  124,801  180,859 
Additions  19,748  28,002 
Reclassification to associates (note 13)  -  (11,724)
Disposals  (22,798)  (70,960)
Net losses on equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss  (29,746)  (1,376)
At 30 June  92,005  124,801 

Equity instruments are analysed as follows:

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Listed equity securities  78,375  107,872 
Unlisted equity securities  13,630  16,929 

 92,005  124,801 
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9. DEBT INSTRUMENTS

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

At amortised cost :
Government notes  83,759  83,919 
Treasury bills  -  19,517 
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions  20,368  45,269 
Total debt instruments  104,127  148,705 

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July  148,705  111,518 
Additions  20,000  77,984 
Accrued interest  4,614  3,203 
Proceeds received at maturity  (69,136)  (44,000)
Expected Credit Loss  (56)  - 
At 30 June  104,127  148,705 

Main terms are disclosed in Note 10.

An expected credit loss of Rs55,635 (2019 : nil) has been recognised on debt instruments at amortised cost as at 30 June 2020 (cf. Note 
15). The Company has used the credit spread approach on a fixed deposit instrument which will mature on 24 December 2020, where 
ECL = (Pv Risk Free (Deposit maturity value) - Pv Risky (Deposit maturity value)).

No expected credit losses have been recognised on government notes as they have deemed to be negligible.

10. FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Company’s objective in managing risk is the creation and protection of shareholder value. Risk is inherent in the Company’s activities, 
but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. The 
process of risk management is critical to the Company’s continuing profitability. The Company is exposed to market risk (which includes 
interest rate risk, currency risk and price risk), liquidity risk, credit risk, investment holding period risk and capital risk. 

10.1 Risk management structure

The Company’ senior management is responsible for identifying and controlling risks. The Audit & Risk Committee and the Board of 
Directors supervise the senior management and are ultimately responsible for the overall risk management of the Company.

10.2 Risk measurement and reporting system

The Company’s risks are measured using a method that reflects both the expected loss likely to arise in normal circumstances and 
unexpected losses that are an estimate of the ultimate actual loss. 

Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily set up to be performed based on limits established by the Board of Directors. These limits 
reflect the business strategy, including the risk that the Company is willing to accept and the market environment of the Company. In 
addition, the Company monitors and measures the overall risk in relation to the aggregate risk exposure across all risks type and activities.
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10. FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

10.3 Risk mitigation

The Company has investment guidelines that set out its overall business strategies, its tolerance for risk and its general risk management 
philosophy.

(I) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables such 
as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.

(a) Foreign currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Company undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Therefore, the Company will necessarily be subject to 
foreign exchange risks.

The currency profile of the financial assets and financial liabilities is summarised as follows:

2020 2019
Financial

assets
Financial 
liabilities

Financial
assets

Financial 
liabilities

2019 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Currency
Mauritian rupee  465,974  6,391  531,859  5,226 
United States dollar  3,007  -    2,810  -   
Euro  17  -    15  -   

 468,998  6,391  534,684  5,226 

The following table details the Company’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Mauritian rupee against the relevant foreign 
currencies. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation 
at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. A negative number below indicates a decrease in  profit and other equity 
where the Mauritian rupee strengthens by 10% against the relevant currency. For a 10% weakening of the Mauritian rupee against the 
relevant currency there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and other equity, and the balances below would be positive.

Impact of a 10% appreciation of the Mauritian Rupee:

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

US Dollar impact
Total comprehensive income  (301)  (281)
Euro impact
Total comprehensive income  (2)  (2)

The above is mainly attributable to the exposure in relation to the net working capital and cash and cash equivalents in foreign currencies.
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10. FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values of financial 
instruments. 

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk as it lends funds at floating interest rates and invests in various interest-bearing instruments.

The Company’s investments in debt instruments at amortised cost carry fixed interest rates and mature within one year.  Changes in 
interest rates do not affect the carrying amount of those instruments. 

The interest rate profile of the Company at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019 was:

Currency Floating Interest rate
2020 2019

Loans to associated companies MUR

 Bank Prime 
lending rate + 

(2.5% - 5%) 

 Bank Prime 
lending rate + 

(2.5% - 5%) 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Company’s profit or loss and equity for the year to a reasonably possible change 
in interest rates, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivity on the profit or loss and the equity for the year is the effect of the 
assumed changes in interest rates on the net interest income for one year, based on the floating rate financial assets held at the end of 
the reporting period.

Change in 
basis points

Sensitivity of 
interest income 

increase/(decrease)
Rs’000

30 June 2020
Prime lending rate +100/-100 71/(71)
30 June 2019
Prime lending rate +100/-100 141/(141)

The following table analyses the Company’s interest rate risk exposure:

0-3 months
3 months - 6 

months 6 months - 1 year 1-5 years Total
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

As at 30 June 2020
Variable rate assets
Loans to associates  5,739  -  -  -  5,739 
Fixed rate assets
Debt instruments  -  20,368  83,759  -  104,127 
Trade and other receivables  6,181  -  -  -  6,181 
Cash and cash equivalents  116,317  -  -  -  116,317 
As at 30 June 2019
Variable rate assets
Loans to associates  21,187  -  -  -  21,187 
Fixed rate assets
Debt instruments  24,846  20,423  19,517  83,919  148,705 
Trade and other receivables  8,262  -  -  -  8,262 
Cash and cash equivalents  106,845  -  -  -  106,845 
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(c) Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk of unfavourable changes in the fair value of equity instruments as the result of changes in the levels of equity 
indices and the value of individual shares.

The Company’s equity price risk exposure arises from its investments in equity instruments. The Directors monitor the portfolio mix on a 
regular basis to mitigate the risks arising on these investments.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting date:

Change in equity 
prices

Effect on profit or loss and equity for 
the year

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Equity prices +/-10% +/-7,837 +/-10,787

The following table analyses the Company’s concentration of equity price risk in the Company’s equity portfolio by industrial distribution:

% of equity securities

2020 2019
Industrials 44.5% 45.6%
Transport 0.0% 0.2%
Investment 4.8% 2.7%
Banks 15.1% 27.7%
Financial services 4.3% 3.5%
Commerce 4.9% 5.1%
Leisure and hotels 4.0% 10.1%
Communication 3.4% 4.4%
Property 0.2% 0.4%
Services 18.9% 0.2%

100.0% 100.0%

(II) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the Company by failing to discharge an 
obligation. The Company is exposed to the risk of credit-related losses that can occur as a result of a counterparty or issuer being unable 
or unwilling to honour its contractual obligations. These credit exposures exist within debt instruments, loans to associated companies, 
trade and other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents. 

It is the Company’s policy to enter into financial instruments with reputable counterparties and to closely monitor the creditworthiness of 
the Company’s counterparties by reviewing their credit ratings, financial statements and press releases on a regular basis. 

(a) Credit quality analysis:

The Company has one major debt security counterparty at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019, being the Government of Mauritius which is 
rated Baa1. A major counterparty is defined as any counterparty which portfolio position is greater than 10% of net assets.   

The amount receivable from associated companies bears interest and are receivable on demand. The Company trades only with 
recognised, creditworthy related parties. It is the Company’s policy that all related parties who wish to trade on credit terms are subject 
to verification procedures. 

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of impairment losses, represents the Company’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

(b) Financial assets subject to IFRS 9’s impairment requirements

The Company’s financial assets subject to the expected credit loss model within IFRS 9 are financial assets at amortised cost (Note 9) and 
short-term trade and other receivables (Note 15). 

At 30 June 2020, the total of financial assets at amortised cost was Rs 104,126,934, net of loss allowances of Rs 55,687 (30 June 2019: 
Rs148,704,631, net of loss allowance of Rs nil).

At 30 June 2020, the total of short-term trade and other receivables was Rs 6,180,362, net of loss allowances of Rs 36,655,524 (30 June 
2019: Rs 29,449,250, net of loss allowances of Rs 20,450,983).
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(III) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that 
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Exposure to liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the Company could 
be required to pay its liabilities earlier than expected. 

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, who monitors the Company’s short, medium and 
long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves, 
highly liquid short-term debt instruments easily convertible in cash and banking facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual 
cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

The following table details the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Company can be required 
to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Less than 1 year
2020 2019

Non-interest bearing  6,391  5,226 
Variable interest rate instruments  -  - 

 6,391  5,226 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities based on contractual discounted receipts 
and payments:

On demand
1 to 3  

months
3 to 6  

months
6 to 12  
months

1 to 5  
years

More than  
5 years

No fixed  
maturity Total

As at 30 June 2020 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Investment in subsidiaries  -  -  -  -  -  -  96,287  96,287 
Investment in associates  -  -  -  -  -  -  54,158  54,158 
Equity instruments  -  -  -  -  -  -  92,005  92,005 
Debt instruments  -  -  20,368  83,759  -  -  -  104,127 
Trade and other receivables  6,104  -  -  -  -  -  -  6,104 
Cash and cash equivalents  116,317  -  -  -  -  -  -  116,317 
Total financial assets  122,421  -  20,368  83,759  -  -  242,450  468,998 
Lease liabilities  -  -  -  -  583  -  -  583 
Trade and other payables  6,391  -  -  -  -  -  -  6,391 
Total financial liabilities  6,391  -  -  -  583  -  -  6,974 
As at 30 June 2019
Investment in subsidiaries  -  -  -  -  -  -  102,058  102,058 
Investment in associates  -  -  -  -  -  -  22,851  22,851 
Equity instruments  -  -  -  -  -  -  124,801  124,801 
Debt instruments  -  24,846  20,423  19,517  83,919  -  -  148,705 
Trade and other receivables  29,424  -  -  -  -  -  -  29,424 
Cash and cash equivalents  106,845  -  -  -  -  -  -  106,845 
Total financial assets  136,269  24,846  20,423  19,517  83,919  -  249,710  534,684 
Lease liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Trade and other payables  5,226  -  -  -  -  -  -  5,226 
Total financial liabilities  5,226  -  -  -  -  -  -  5,226 
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(IV) Investment holding period risk

Investment in private equity requires a long-term commitment with no certainty of return. Investments that are illiquid holdings may not 
be capable of being realised in a timely manner. The timing of cash distributions, if any, is uncertain and unpredictable.As a result, the 
Company considers that the risk of investment holding period risk may result in a reduction or delay in the returns from private equity 
investments.

(V) Capital risk management

The Company manages its capital to ensure the Company is financially sustainable while maximising the return to stakeholders through 
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Company monitors its capital position and may make adjustment to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. This can be done 
by adjusting the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, returning capital to shareholders, issueing new shares or selling assets to 
reduce debt.

The Company’s business model is the holding and managing of investments without having recourse to any significant borrowings. 

11. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

11.1 Fair value hierarchy

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value 
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

·         Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

·         Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly 
observable;

·         Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

Assessing the significance of a particular input requires judgement, considering factors specific to the asset or liability.

(I) Recurring fair value measurement of assets and liabilities

The following table shows financial instruments recognised at fair value:

2020 2019
Level 1 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 3 Total

Financial assets Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Equity instruments (Note 8)
Listed equity securities  78,375  -    78,375  107,872  -    107,872 
Unlisted equity securities  -    13,630  13,630  -    16,929  16,929 
Investment in subsidiary (Note 12)  -    96,287  96,287  -    102,058  102,058 
Investment in associates (Note 13)  -    54,158  54,158  -    22,851  22,851 
Investment property (Note 7)  -    62,271  62,271  -    62,271  62,271 
Total  78,375  226,346  304,721  107,872  204,109  311,981 

(II) Other financial assets and liabilities

For all other financial assets and liabilities, the carrying value is an approximation of fair value, including: debt securities; trade and other 
receivables; cash and cash equivalents; and trade and other payables.

(III) Transfers between Level 1 and Level 3

There has been no transfer between Level 1 and Level 3 during the year (2019: nill).
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11.2 Valuation techniques

When the fair values of items recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, their fair value 
is determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of valuation models. The inputs to these models are taken 
from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, estimation is required in establishing fair values. The estimates 
include considerations of liquidity and model inputs related to items such as credit risk (both own and counterparty), correlation and 
volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of items in the statement of financial position 
and the level where the items are disclosed in the fair value hierarchy. The models are tested for validity by calibrating to prices from any 
observable current market transactions in the same item (without modification or repackaging) when available. To assess the significance 
of a particular input to the entire measurement, the Company performs sensitivity analysis or stress testing techniques.

(I) Listed investment in equity securities

When fair values of publicly traded equity securities are based on quoted market prices in an active market for identical assets without 
any adjustments, the instruments are included within Level 1 of the hierarchy. 

(II) Unlisted equity investment, unlisted investment in subsidiary and associates

The Company invests in equity securities that are not quoted in an active market. The Company uses various valuation techniques deemed 
the most relevant for each investment. At 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019, the Company used the following valuation methodologies to 
determine fair value of unlisted equity securities:  

(a) Market based earnings multiple : The Company determines comparable public companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage 
and strategy, and calculates an appropriate trading multiple for each comparable company identified. The multiple is calculated 
by dividing the enterprise value of the comparable company by an earnings measure. The trading multiple is then discounted for 
considerations such as illiquidity and size differences between the comparable companies based on company-specific facts and 
circumstances. Such discount factors are disclosed in Note 11.3 (III). 

(b) Discounted cash flows (DCF): Fair value is estimated by deriving the present value of the investment using reasonable assumptions of 
expected future cash flows and the terminal value and date, and the appropriate risk-adjusted discount rate that quantifies the risk 
inherent to the investment. The discount rate is estimated with reference to the market risk-free rate, a risk premium and information 
specific to the investment or market sector. The resulting valuation is then discounted for considerations such as illiquidity and lack 
of control. Such discount factors are disclosed in Note 11.3 (III).

(c) Sum of the parts: Fair value is estimated by aggregating the standalone value of an entity’s assets to derive a total enterprise value. 
The fair value of each of the company’s assets is based on various valuation techniques including earnings multiples and DCF. The 
equity value is then derived from the entreprise value by adjusting the company’s net financial position. An additional discounting 
factor for considerations such as illiquidity and lack of control are applied to derive the actual fair value. Such discount factors are 
disclosed in Note 11.3 (III).

The Company classifies the fair value of these investments as Level 3.

(III) Investment property

The fair value of the investment property was assessed by Noor Dilmohamed & Associates, an accredited independent valuer with a 
recognised and relevant professional qualification and with recent experience in the location and category of the investment property 
being valued.

The valuation methodology has been applied in accordance with the recommendations of the International Valuation Standards Committee 
(IVSC). The Board and management of the Company have concluded that the valuation model used by the Company is consistent with the 
principles in IFRS 13. This valuation methodology is the Open Market Value Approach. It is defined by the IVSC as the estimated amounts 
for which a property should exchange on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction 
after proper marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.
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11.3 Level 3 valuations

(I) Valuation process for Level 3 valuations

Valuations are the responsibility of the board of directors of the Company.

Unless the context otherwise requires (e.g. the COVID-19 pandemic), the valuation of unlisted equity is performed on an annual basis 
by the management of the Company and reviewed by the Audit & Risk Committee. The valuation of investment property is performed 
annually by the external valuer, Noor Dilmohamed & Associates, and reviewed by the Audit & Risk Committee.

On an annual basis, the Audit & Risk Committee presents the valuation results to the Board of Directors. This includes a discussion of 
the major assumptions used in the valuations with an emphasis on the more significant investments and investments with the greater fair 
value changes.

The Audit & Risk Committee considers the appropriateness of the valuation methods and inputs, and may request that alternative 
valuation methods are applied to support the valuation arising from the methods chosen. Any changes in valuation methods are discussed 
and agreed with the Company’s Board of Directors.

(II) Changes in valuation techniques

The table below shows changes in valuation techniques during the year:

Description Valuation technique Reason for change
2020 2019

Investment in associate 6 Discounted cash flows Recent transaction Transaction date was close to year-end in 2019

Other than as described above, there were no other changes in valuation techniques in 2020 compared to the previous year.
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(III) Quantitative information of significant unobservable inputs - Level 3 

Description
Valuation 
technique Unobservable input Input values Fair value

Rs’000

Subsidiary

2020: EBITDA multiple
Average EBITDA multiple of peers 
Discount to average multiple (illiquidity and 
differences with comparables)

8.1x 
45%  96,287   

2019: EBITDA multiple
Average EBITDA multiple of peers 
Discount to average multiple (illiquidity and 
differences with comparables)

10.2x 
45%  102,058   

Associates 1 & 2

2020: EBITDA multiple
Average EBITDA multiple of peers 
Discount to average multiple (illiquidity and 
differences with comparables)

5.8x 
50%  8,229   

2019:
Sum of parts 
using EBITDA 
multiple

Average EBITDA multiple of peers 
Discount to average multiple (illiquidity and 
differences with comparables)

9.4x 
70%  11,028   

Associate 3 & 4 & 5

2020: Discounted cash 
flows

Discount rate 
Long term growth rate 
Discount for lack of control, illiquidity

10,03% - 23,19% 
3% 

25% - 40%  45,576   

2019: Discounted cash 
flows

Discount rate 
Long term growth rate 
Discount for lack of control, illiquidity

10,77% - 11.02% 
2% 

40%  11,324   

Associate 6
2020: Discounted cash 

flows

Discount rate 
Long term growth rate 
Discount for lack of control, illiquidity

28,45% 
5% 

40%  353   

2019: Recent 
transaction Recent transaction price *  500   

Unquoted securities

2020: PE multiple
Average PE multiple of peers 
Discount to average multiple (illiquidity and 
differences with comparables)

6.3x - 14.98x 
15% - 25%  13,630   

2019: PE multiple
Average PE multiple of peers 
Discount to average multiple (illiquidity and 
differences with comparables)

9.7x - 13.27x 
15%  15,928   

Property
2020: Sales comparison Price per arpent Rs 3,300,000  62,271   
2019: Sales comparison Price per arpent Rs 3,300,000  62,271   

Unquoted securities
2020: Recent 

transaction Recent transaction price *  -   

2019: Recent 
transaction Recent transaction price *  1,000   

2020  226,346   

2019  204,109   

Ranges for discount rate and average PE multiple are wide due to the diversity of portfolio companies in each category (market sector in 
which they operate and their respective size)

* No unobservable input has been developped, as such no sensitivity has been performed.
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(IV) Sensitivity analysis to significant changes in unobservable inputs within Level 3 hierarchy 

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy together with 
a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019 are as shown below:

Description Input Sensitivity used*
Effect on fair 

value
Rs’000

Subsidiary

2020:
Average EBITDA multiple of peers 
Discount to average multiple (illiquidity and differences 
with comparables)

+ 1x / - 1x 
+ 5% / - 5%

10,755 / (10,755) 
(6,018) / 6,018

2019:
Average EBITDA multiple of peers 
Discount to average multiple (illiquidity and differences 
with comparables)

+ 1x / - 1x 
+ 5% / - 5%

9,989 / (9,989) 
(9,278) / 9,278

Associates 1 & 2

2020:
Average EBITDA multiple of peers 
Discount to average multiple (illiquidity and differences 
with comparables)

+ 1x / - 1x 
+ 5% / - 5%

2,799 / (2,799) 
(514) / 514

2019:
Average EBITDA multiple of peers 
Discount to average multiple (illiquidity and differences 
with comparables)

+ 1x / - 1x 
+ 5% / - 5%

915 / (915) 
(1,424) / 1,424

Associate 3 & 4 & 5

2020:
Discount rate 
Long term growth rate 
Discount for lack of control, illiquidity

+ 1% / - 1% 
+ 1% / - 1% 
+ 5% / - 5%

(2,189) / 2,422 
1,167 / (1,057) 
(3,038) / 3,038

2019:
Discount rate 
Long term growth rate 
Discount for lack of control, illiquidity

+ 1% / - 1% 
+ 1% / - 1% 
+ 5% / - 5%

(11,328) / 14,658 
10,278 / (8,174) 

(944) / 944

Associate 6
2020:

Discount rate 
Long term growth rate 
Discount for lack of control, illiquidity

+ 1% / - 1% 
+ 1% / - 1% 
+ 5% / - 5%

(33) / 37 
13 / (12) 
(29) / 29

2019: No unobservable input N/A N/A

Unquoted securities
2020: Average PE multiple of peers 

Discount to average multiple
+ 1x / - 1x 

+ 5% / - 5%
1,431 / (1,431) 

(847) / 847

2019: Average PE multiple of peers 
Discount to average multiple

+ 1x / - 1x 
+ 5% / - 5%

1,433 / (1,433) 
(937) / 937

Property
2020: Price per arpent + 5% / - 5% 9,445 / (9,445)
2019: Price per arpent + 5% / - 5% 9,445 / (9,445)

* The sensitivity analysis refers to a percentage or multiple amount added or deducted from the input and the effect this has on fair value.
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(V) Level 3 reconciliation

The following table shows a reconciliation of all movements in the fair value of items categorised within Level 3 between the beginning 
and the end of the reporting period:

Investment
property

Investment
in subsidiary

Investment
in associates

Unquoted
securities Total

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
2020
Balance as at 1 July 2019  62,271  102,058  22,851  16,929  204,109 
Total gains / (losses) in profit or loss  -  (5,771)  (19,193)  (3,299)  (28,263)
Purchases  -  -  50,500  -  50,500 
Disposals  -  -  -  -  - 
Balance as at 30 June 2020  62,271  96,287  54,158  13,630  226,346 
Total gains / (losses) for the period included in profit 
or loss for the assets held at the end of the reporting 
period  -  (5,771)  (19,193)  (3,299)  (28,263)
2019
Balance as at 1 July 2018  62,271  94,783  9,998  40,933  207,985 
Total gains / (losses) in profit or loss  -  7,275  629  2,628  10,532 
Reclassification to associates  -  -  11,724  (11,724)  - 
Purchases  -  -  500  -  500 
Disposals  -  -  -  (14,908)  (14,908)
Balance as at 30 June 2019  62,271  102,058  22,851  16,929  204,109 
Total gains / (losses) for the period included in profit 
or loss for the assets held at the end of the reporting 
period  -  7,275  629  2,628  10,532 

12. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July 102,058 94,783 
Net gains / (losses) at fair value through profit or loss (5,771) 7,275 
Investment in subsidiary at fair value 96,287 102,058 

The company meets the definition of an investment entity. Therefore, it does not consolidate its subsidiary but rather, recognises it as 
investments at fair value through profit or loss.

Details of unconsolidated subsidiary:

Country of
incorporation HoldingName Activity

2020 2019

Flacq Associated Stonemasters Limited
Production and sale of 
aggregates and bricks Mauritius 81% 81%

The above subsidiary does not control any further subsidiary.

Restrictions:

The Company receives income in the form of dividends from its investment in unconsolidated subsidiary, and there are no significant 
restrictions on the transfer of funds from this entity to the Company.

Support:

The Company has no contractual commitments or current intentions to provide any financial or other support to its unconsolidated 
subsidiary.
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2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July  22,851  9,998 
Reclassification from equity instruments (Note 8)  -  11,724 
Additions  50,500  500 
Net gains / (losses) at fair value through profit or loss  (19,193)  629 
Investment in associates at fair value at 30 June  54,158  22,851 

Last year reclassification from equity instruments relates to investee companies in which the Company obtained representation on the 
boards during the year ended 30 June 2019.

Details of the Company’s associates:

Country of
incorporation HoldingName Activity

2020 2019
PL Resorts Ltd Hotel Operator Mauritius 40% 40%
Haute Rive Azuri Hotel Ltd Hotel Operator Mauritius 21% 21%
Atlas Communication International Company Ltd Telecommunication Mauritius 25% 25%
Les Relais Limited Telecommunication Mauritius 24% 24%
Regen Project Ltd Waste management Mauritius 49% 49%
Identical Media Holding Ltd Film production Mauritius 30%  - 

The investments in PL Resorts Ltd and Haute Rive Azuri Hotel Ltd have been fully written down following the economic downturn 
affecting the tourism industry due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The Company has pledged its shares in PL Resorts Ltd and Haute Rive Azuri Hotel Ltd to secure the banking facilities of these associated 
companies. The carrying amount of the shares pledged at 30 June 2020 amounts to nil  (2019: Rs 11,323,536).

Restrictions:

The Company earns income in the form of dividends, interests and directors fees from its investment in associates. Banking facilities of 
PL Resort Ltd and Haute Rive Azuri Hotel Ltd include covenants restricting the servicing of shareholders loans and payment of dividends 
to the Company.

Support:

The Company has no contractual commitments or current intentions to provide any other financial or other support to its associates.
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14. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July  117  99 
Deferred tax credit on profit and loss (Note 20)  29  75 
Deferred tax on other comprehensive income  (91)  (50)
Underprovision of deferred tax liability in previous year (Note 20)  11  (7)
At 30 June  66  117 

At 30 June
2019

Credit/ 
(charge) to 

profit or loss

Credit to other 
comprehensive 

income
At 30 June

2020
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Deferred tax asset
Retirement benefit obligations  153  15  (91)  77 
Deferred tax liabilities
Accelerated tax depreciation  (36)  25  -  (11)

 117  40  (91)  66 

15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Loans to associated companies  5,739  21,187 
Dividends receivable  188  8,080 
Other receivables  254  182 

 6,181  29,449 

Trade and other receivables include amounts due by:

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Subsidiary  -  6,974 
Associated companies  5,739  21,187 

 5,739  28,161 
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Loans to associated companies of Rs 5,739,088 (2019: Rs 21,186,664) are unsecured, bear interest at Prime Lending Rate + (2,5% - 5%) 
and are repayable on demand.

An analysis of the changes in the gross carrying amount and the corresponding ECL allowances on loans to associated companies in 
accordance with IFRS 9 is shown below:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000

Gross carrying amount
At 1 July 2018  -  14,495  25,625  40,120 
Interest accrued  -  1,518  -  1,518 
At 30 June 2019  -  16,013  25,625  41,638 
Interest accrued  -  757  -  757 
Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3  -  (16,770)  16,770  - 
At 30 June 2020  -  -  42,395  42,395 

Expected credit losses
At 1 July 2018  -  (1,407)  (12,863)  (14,270)
Charge for the year  -  (148)  (6,033)  (6,181)
At 30 June 2019  -  (1,555)  (18,896)  (20,451)
Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3  -  1,555  (1,555)  - 
Charge for the year  -  -  (16,205)  (16,205)
At 30 June 2020  -  -  (36,656)  (36,656)
Net carrying amount  -  -  5,739  5,739 

The below table presents a reconciliation of the expected credit losses of the Company as disclosed in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income:

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Expected credit loss on debt instruments at amortised cost (Note 9)  (55)  - 
Expected credit loss on shareholder’s loans  (16,205)  (6,181)

 (16,260)  (6,181)

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Other payables and accruals  6,391  5,226 
 6,391  5,226 

Trade and other payables include amounts due to:

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Holding company  146  - 
Sister companies  5  2 

 151  2 

The average credit period on purchases is one month. The Company has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all 
payables are paid within the credit timeframe. 

The amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Cash at bank  116,296  104,945 
Short-term deposits  -  1,896 
Petty cash  21  4 

 116,317  106,845 

18. STATED CAPITAL

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Issued and fully paid
8,820,947 ordinary shares of Rs 1 each  8,821  8,821 

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the rights to dividends.

19. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITIES

The liability relates to employees who are entitled to Retirement Gratuities payable under the Employment Rights Act (ERA). The 
latter provides for a lump sum at retirement based on final salary and years of service. For employees who are members of the Defined 
Contribution plan, half of any lumpsum and 5 years of pension (relating to Employer’s share of contributions only) payable from the 
pension fund have been offset from the Retirement Gratuities.

(a) Retirement gratuities - Under the Employment Rights Act 2008

The amounts recognised in the statements of financial position are as follows:

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Retirement gratuities  461  903 

Movement in the liability recognised in the statements of financial position:

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July  903  849 
Amount recognised in profit or loss  90  350 
Amount recognised in other comprehensive income  (532)  (296)
At 30 June  461  903 

Movement in the present value of the retirement gratuities in the current year were as follows:

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

At 1 July  903  849 
Current service cost  36  294 
Interest cost  54  56 
Actuarial gain on obligation  (532)  (296)
At 30 June  461  903 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

19. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

(a) Retirement gratuities - Under the Employment Rights Act 2008 (Cont’d)

The amounts recognised in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are as follows:

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Current service cost  36  294 
Interest cost  54  56 
Amount recognised in profit or loss  90  350 
Amount recognised in other comprehensive income:
Actuarial gain recognised  (794)  (438)
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme  262  142 
Amount recognised in total comprehensive income  (532)  (296)

The principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes were:

2020 2019
% %

Discount rate 3.9 6.0
Future salary increases 4.0 4.0 

The above figures are based on computation made by Swan Life Ltd (actuarial consultants) at 30 June 2020.

The expected employer contributions for the year ending 30 June 2021 are nil.

The average duration of the liabilities as at 30 June 2020 is 27 years (2019: 21 years).

The risks associated with the plan are interest rate risk, salary risk and longevity risk:

- Interest rate risk: the present value of the obligation is calculated using a discount rate based on the yields of long-term government 
bonds. An increase or decrease of the discount rate can have a significant impact on the liability.

- Salary risk: the present value of the liability is calculated based on the future salary increase of the plan participants. A sensitivity 
analysis of salary increase assumption has been performed to assess its impact on the liability. An increase in salary increase assumption 
leads to an increase of the present value of the obligation.

- Longetivity risk: the obligation is calculated based on the best estimate of plan participants’ mortality after retirement. Sensitivity 
has also been performed in respect of the mortality assumption. All increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will 
increase the liability.

Sensitivity analysis 2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Decrease in retirement gratuity liability due to 1% increase in discount rate  131  197 
Increase in retirement gratuity liability due to 1% increase in future long-term salary  118  246 

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on possible changes of the discount rate and future salary increase 
occurring at the end of the reporting period if all other assumptions remained unchanged.

(b) State pension plan

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

National pension scheme contributions expensed  132  121 
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20. CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES

Income tax is calculated at the rate of 15% (2019: 15%) on the profit for the year as adjusted for income tax purposes and corporate social 
responsibility (“CSR”) of 2% (2019: 2%).

Corporate Social Responsibility

Under the Mauritian Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) legislation, the Company is required to allocate 2% of its chargeable income 
of the preceding financial year to government approved NGOs and/or to the Director General of the Mauritian Revenue Authority. CSR 
is regarded as a tax and is therefore subsumed with the income tax shown within the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income and the income tax liability on the statement of financial position.

Statement of financial position
2020 2019

Rs’000 Rs’000
At 1 July  523  944 
Under/(over) provision in income tax in previous year  21  (40)
Income tax paid during the year  (489)  (808)
CSR paid  -  (24)
CSR provision  13  53 
Provision for the year  95  398 
At 30 June  163  523 
Analysed as follows:
Tax refundable  -  - 
Tax payable  163  523 

 163  523 

Statement of profit or loss
2020 2019

Rs’000 Rs’000
Provision for the year  95  398 
Under provision in income tax in previous year  21  (40)
Underprovision in deferred tax in previous year (Note 14)  (11)  7 
CSR contribution  13  53 
Deferred tax movement (Note 14)  (29)  (75)
Tax expense  89  343 

Tax reconciliation 2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

(Loss)/Profit before tax  (66,581)  14,591 
Tax calculated at a rate of 17% (2017: 17%)  (11,319)  2,480 
Income not subject to tax *  (3,182)  (5,127)
Other deductibles  (86)  - 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes **  14,666  3,023 
Underprovision in deferred tax in previous year  (11)  7 
Underprovision/(overprovision) in income tax in previous year  21  (40)

 89  343 

* Income not subject to tax mainly include exempt dividend income, exempt interest income and gain on revaluation of financial assets.

** Expenses not deductible for tax purposes mainly include expected credit loss on receivables, employee benefit obligations charges, 
legal fees and share registration fees. 
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21. EFFECTIVE INTEREST INCOME

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Interest on debt instruments  4,614  7,031 
Interest on cash and cash equivalents (i)  2,010  1,711 
Interest on loans to associates  757  1,518 

 7,381  10,260 

(i) Interest on cash and cash equivalent relates to interest received on placement of cash and cash equivalents, consisting mainly of short-
term treasury loans to related parties.

22. DIVIDEND INCOME

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Dividend income from listed equity securities 2,816 4,906 
Dividend income from unlisted equity instruments 9,670 15,183 

12,486 20,089 

23. NET (LOSSES)/GAINS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Net losses on listed equity instruments (note 8) (26,447) (4,004)
Net loss on coporate bond      - (562)
Net (losses)/gains on unlisted equity instruments (note 8) (3,299) 2,628 
Net (loss)/gain on subsidiary (note 12) (5,771) 7,275 
Net (losses)/gains on associates (note 13) (19,193) 629 

 (54,710)  5,966 

24. OTHER INCOME

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Directors fees received  581  175 
Other income  13  - 

 594  175 
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25. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Staff costs 7,198 6,833 
Professional fees 4,860 4,508 
Directors fees 625 547 
Other general expenses 3,665 3,634 

16,348 15,522 

26. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Profit for the year is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Expected credit losses recognised on loans to associates  16,205  6,181 
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  130  129 
Amortisation on intangible assets  34  20 
Depreciation on right-of-use assets  523  - 
Pension costs  524  607 
Staff costs (excluding pension cost)  6,674  6,226 

27. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

2020 2019
Rs’000 Rs’000

Net (loss)/ profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent  (66,670)  14,248 
Number of shares (‘000)
Ordinary shares issued at July 1  8,821  8,821 
Ordinary shares issued at 30 June  8,821  8,821 
Weighted average number of shares in issue  8,821  8,821 
Basic and diluted (losses)/earnings per share (in Rs.)  (7.56)  1.62 

Earnings per share have been computed based on a weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue taking into consideration the 
rights factor.

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of 
completion of these financial statements.

28. LEASES

Company as a lessee

The Company has one lease contract for motor vehicle used in its operations. Leases of motor vehicles generally have lease terms 
between 3 and 5 years. The Company’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. Generally, the 
Company is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets.

This lease contract includes extension and termination options, which are further discussed below.

The Company also has one rent lease with lease term of less than 12 months. The Company applies the ‘short-term lease’ recognition 
exemption for this lease.
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28. LEASES (CONT’D)

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the period:

Motor vehicle
Rs’000

As at 1 July 2019      -
Adoption of IFRS 16 1,089 
Additions      -
Depreciation expense  (523)
As at 30 June 2020  566 

The Directors have reviewed the carrying value of the right-of-use asset and are of the opinion that at 30 June 2020, the carrying value 
has not suffered any impairment.

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the period:

2020
Rs’000

As at 1 July  - 
Adoption of IFRS 16  1,089 
Additions  - 
Accretion of interest  52 
Payments  (558)
As at 30 June  583 
Current  537 
Non-current  46 

The undiscounted maturity analysis of lease liabilities as at 30 June 2020 is as follows :
Minimum lease payments

Within 1 year 1-2 years Total
30 June 2020 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Lease payments 557 46 603
Net present value 557 46 603

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss

2020
Rs’000

Depreciation expenses of right-of-use assets  523 
Interest expense on lease liabilities (included in finance costs)  52 
Expense relating to short-term lease (included in administrative expenses)  759 
Total amount recognised in profit or loss  1,334 

The Company had total cash outflows for leases of Rs 1,400,592 in 2020 (Rs 1,408,445 in 2019). 

The Company’s lease contract includes extension and termination options. These options are negotiated by management to provide 
flexibility in managing the leased-asset portfolio and align with the Company’s business needs. Management exercises significant 
judgement in determining whether these extension and termination options are reasonably certain to be exercised. As at 30 June 2020, 
it is certain that the Company will not terminate the motor vehicle lease before it ends (August 2021) but no decision has been taken yet 
as to whether the Company will extend the lease or not.
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29. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

 Holding  
Company  Subsidiary 

Sister 
 companies

Related  
companies

Associated 
companies

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Balances Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Bank balance with 
related party  -  -  -  -  -  -  3,764  43,930  -  - 
Amount due from  -  -  -  6,974  20  -  -  -  5,739  21,187 
Amount due to  146  -  -  -  5  2  -  -  -  - 
Transactions
Purchase of securities  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  57,984  -  - 
Purchase of goods and 
services  -  184  -  -  13  208  193  129  -  - 
Donation  250  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Director fees paid  335  267  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Director fees received 
(Note 24)  -  -  106  -  -  -  -  -  475  175 
Professional fees  560  414  -  -  488  474  -  -  -  - 
Interest revenue  1,770  1,078  -  -  206  368  77  897  757  1,518 
Dividend paid  -  2,158  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Dividend income  -  -  9,059  13,589  29  43  -  -  - 

The terms and conditions of related party transactions have been disclosed in notes 15 and 16.

The Holding Company relates to IBL Ltd. Sister companies relate to IBL Ltd subsidiaries. Related companies relate to IBL Ltd associates 
and joint ventures.

Compensation of key management personnel 

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management during the year are as follows:
2020 2019

Rs’000 Rs’000
Short term benefits  4,741  3,851 
Post employment benefit  258  178 

 4,999  4,029 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

30. MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities according to when they are expected to be recovered or settled respectively:

As at 30 June 2020
Within 12

months
After 12
months Total

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Assets
Property, plant and equipment  -  376  376 
Intangible assets  -  48  48 
Right-of-use assets  -  566  566 
Deferred tax assets  -  66  66 
Investment property  -  62,271  62,271 
Investment in subsidiary  -  96,287  96,287 
Investment in associates  -  54,158  54,158 
Equity instruments  78,375  13,630  92,005 
Debt instruments  104,127  -  104,127 
Trade and other receivables  442  5,739  6,181 
Cash and cash equivalents  116,317  -  116,317 

 299,261  233,141  532,402 
Liabilities
Employee benefit liabilities  -  461  461 
Lease liabilities  -  583  583 
Trade and other payables  6,391  -  6,391 
Current tax liabilities  163  -  163 

 6,554  1,044  7,598 

As at 30 June 2019
Within 12

months
After 12
months Total

Rs’000 Rs’000 Rs’000
Assets
Property, plant and equipment  -  506  506 
Intangible assets  -  82  82 
Deferred tax assets  -  117  117 
Investment property  -  62,271  62,271 
Investment in subsidiary  -  102,058  102,058 
Investment in associates  -  22,851  22,851 
Equity instruments  107,872  16,929  124,801 
Debt instruments  64,786  83,919  148,705 
Trade and other receivables  29,449  -  29,449 
Cash and cash equivalents  106,845  -  106,845 

 308,952  288,733  597,685 
Liabilities
Employee benefit liabilities  -  903  903 
Trade and other payables  5,226  -  5,226 
Current tax liabilities  523  -  523 

 5,749  903  6,652 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

31. HOLDING COMPANY

The Directors consider IBL Ltd, incorporated in Mauritius, as the Company’s holding company.  Its registered address is 4th Floor, IBL 
House, Caudan Waterfront, Port Louis.

32. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

The COVID-19 Pandemic has caused a general economic downturn on a local, regional and global scale, which may have adverse effects 
on the performance of the Company’s portfolio. The Directors have incuded the impact of the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic in 
the valuation of its portfolio investment  and in the valuation of the expected credit losses on receivables and debt instruments at 30 
June 2020. The full extent of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the financial performance of the Company will depend on future 
developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak, related adisories and restrictions and the impact on the financial 
markets and the overall economy.

Effective 1 August 2020, the Company has relocated its main place of business which is now situated at 1st Floor, IBL House, Caudan 
Waterfront, Port-Louis.
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Notice is hereby given that the Annual Meeting of the Shareholders of The Bee Equity Partners Ltd (‘the Company’) will be held at 1st Floor, 
IBL House, Caudan Waterfront, Port Louis on Thursday, 26 November 2020 at 9.30 hours to transact the following business in the manner 
required for the passing of the following RESOLUTIONS:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS:

1. To consider the Annual Report.

2. To receive the report of the Auditors.

3. To consider and adopt the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020.

4. To elect, as Director of the Company, Mr. Sydney Ah Yoong1 who has been nominated by the Board and who offers himself for election.

5. To re-elect by rotation, on the recommendation of the Board, Mr. Sattar Jackaria1 who offers himself for re-election as Director of the 
Company. 

6. To re-elect by rotation, on the recommendation of the Board, Mr. Denis-Claude Pilot1 who offers himself for re-election as Director of the 
Company. 

7. To fix the remuneration of the Directors for the financial year ending 30 June 2021 and to ratify the emoluments paid to the Directors for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2020.

8. To reappoint Ernst & Young as Auditors for the ensuing year and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.

9. To ratify the emoluments paid to Ernst & Young for the financial year ended 30 June 2020.

By order of the Board

Doris Dardanne, FCIS
Per IBL Management Ltd 
Company Secretary

24 September 2020

Footnote 1 : The Directors’ profiles are set out on pages 10 and 11 of this Annual Report.

NOTES:

1. A Shareholder of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this meeting may appoint a proxy of his/her own choice (whether a Shareholder or not) to attend 
and vote on his/her behalf. The instrument appointing a proxy or any general power of attorney shall be deposited at the Share Registry and Transfer Office 
Ocorian Corporate Administrators Limited, 6th Floor, Tower A, 1 CyberCity, Ebène not less than twenty four hours before the time appointed for the holding 
of the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named on such instrument proposes to vote, and in default, the instrument of proxy shall not be 
treated as valid. 

2. A proxy form is included in this Annual Report and is also available at the Share Registry and Transfer Office of the Company.

3. For the purpose of this Annual Meeting, the Directors have resolved, in compliance with Section 120(3) of the Companies Act 2001, that the shareholders who 
are entitled to receive notice of the meeting shall be those shareholders whose names are registered in the share register of the Company as at 30 October 2020.

4. The minutes of the Annual Meeting to be held on 26 November 2020 will be available for consultation and comments during office hours at the registered office 
of the Company, 4th Floor, IBL House, Caudan Waterfront, Port Louis from 2 February to 10 February 2021.

5. Shareholders will receive the Notice of Annual Meeting and the Proxy Form by post. Shareholders may obtain a copy of the Annual Report by choosing one of 
the following:

a. Downloading the documents from The Bee Equity Partners Ltd’s website on www.thebee.mu. 

b. Sending a request to the email address: iblcosec@iblgroup.com so that a copy be sent to their email address.

c. Making a written request to IBL Management Ltd, IBL House, Caudan Waterfront, Port Louis for a printed copy (which shall be sent to them within 2 days 
from the request being received).

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING
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Directors
Jean-Claude Béga - Chairman 
Sydney Ah Yoong - Appointed Director on 4 August 2020
Jan Boullé
Olivier Fayolle
Madhukar Gujadhur 
Sattar Jackaria 
Delphine Lagesse - Appointed Director on 11 September 2019
Denis-Claude Pilot 

Company Secretary 
IBL Management Ltd 

Share Registry and Transfer Office
Ocorian Corporate Administrators Limited 
6th Floor, Tower A
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Auditors
Ernst & Young 
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I/We,

of

being a Shareholder/Shareholders of THE BEE EQUITY PARTNERS LTD, do hereby appoint

of

failing him/her,

of

failing him/her, the Chairman of the Company, as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual Meeting of the 
Company to be held on Thursday, 26 November 2020 at 9.30 hours and at any adjournment thereof.

I/We direct my/our proxy to vote in the following manner:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS:

For Against Abstain

1. To consider the Annual Report.   

2. To receive the report of the Auditors.   

3. To consider and adopt the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020.   
4. To elect, as Director of the Company, Mr. Sydney Ah Yoong who has been nominated by the Board 

and who offers himself for election.   
5. To re-elect by rotation, on the recommendation of the Board, Mr. Sattar Jackaria who offers himself 

for re-election as Director of the Company.   
6. To re-elect by rotation, on the recommendation of the Board, Mr. Denis-Claude Pilot who offers 

himself for re-election as Director of the Company.   
7. To fix the remuneration of the Directors for the financial year ending 30 June 2021 and to ratify the 

emoluments paid to the Directors for the financial year ended 30 June 2020.   
8. To reappoint Ernst & Young as Auditors for the ensuing year and to authorise the Board of Directors 

to fix their remuneration.   

9. To ratify the emoluments paid to Ernst & Young for the financial year ended 30 June 2020.   

Signed this day of 2020

Signature(s)

Notes:

1. A Shareholder of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this meeting may appoint a proxy of his/her own choice (whether a Shareholder 
or not) to attend and vote on his /her behalf.

2. Please mark in the appropriate box how you wish to vote.  If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will exercise his/her 
discretion as to how he/she votes.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy or any general power of attorney shall be deposited at the Share Registry and Transfer Office, Ocorian 
Corporate Administrators Limited, 6th Floor, Tower A, 1 CyberCity, Ebène, not less than twenty four hours before the time for the holding 
of the meeting or else the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.

PROXY FORM
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